

# A SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR GARDEN HISTORY IN CANADA (Revised and Augmented)

Edwinna von Baeyer

National Historic Parks and Sites Branch Environment Canada Parks

© Minister of Supply and Services Canada 1987.

This publication is available, free of charge, by writing to Research Publications, Environment Canada - Parks, 1600 Liverpool Court, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1A 1G2.

En français cet ouvrage s'intitule **L'histoire du jardinage au Canada:** bibliographie sélective (révisée et augmentée) (n° de catalogue R62-192/1987F).

Catalogue No.: R62-192/1987E ISBN: 0-662-15269-7

Published under the authority of the Minister of the Environment, Ottawa, 1987.

Editor: Sheila Ascroft Cover design: Dorothy Kappler and Sheila Ascroft

The opinions expressed in this report are those of the author and not necessarily those of Environment Canada – Parks.

Environment Canada — Parks publishes the results of its research in archaeology, architecture and history. A list of titles is available from Research Publications, Environment Canada — Parks, 1600 Liverpool Court, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 1G2.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction ·····	5
Reference ·····	7
Pictorial Works ·····	9
General ·····	11
Botanists/Botanical Exploration ·····	13
Floras ·····	17
Naturalists/Natural History · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	23
Travel and Immigrant Literature · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	26
General Horticulture ·····	30
Experimental Farms ·····	32
Fruit and Vegetable Growing	33
Gardening ·····	37
Garden Ornaments · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	39
Landscaping — Practical ·····	40
Historical Gardens ·····	42
Northern Gardens ·····	44
Railway Gardening ·····	45
School Gardening ·····	46
Botanical Gardens · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	48
Parks ·····	49
Landscape Architects — Gardeners · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	52
Societies ·····	54
Landscape Preservation ·····	56
Periodicals	58

#### INTRODUCTION

How did past generations garden in Canada? The question is an increasingly important one in light of the recent shift in preservation from a preoccupation with individual historic buildings to an expanded view of a building in context - as part of a streetscape, or a larger landscape such as a park. Because a garden is a dynamic entity, the historic garden researcher, landscape historian or conservationist requires detailed sources of information on what may still exist or what no longer remains in a particular garden. These concerns have stimulated a need for a comprehensive history of gardening in Canada - a study that does not exist. Until such a work is written, the following selected bibliography may help in answering some of the questions about how past generations gardened in Canada.

Although it is recognized that Canadian gardens were heavily influenced by European and American landscape traditions, this vast literature <sup>1</sup> is beyond the scope of the present bibliography. The absence of literature on a Canadian garden style per se is an indication of the extensive influence of foreign garden traditions. The Canadian literature reflects our vernacular style — adaptations of gardening styles brought here as part of the cultural heritage of immigrants.

The bibliography has been limited to material on the history of designed (versus natural) gardens in Canada published before 1950, as well as contemporary literature on gardens existing before 1950. It has been developed from consultation of the usual bibliographic sources (card catalogues, bibliographies, periodical lists, etc.) mainly in Ottawa, and to some extent in Toronto. Unfortunately, many of the books and articles noted are available only in a limited number of libraries in Canada.

## **Topics Included**

The beginnings of Canadian garden history are characterized on one hand by the scientific study of nature (a response to European horticultural enthusiasm) and on the other by

the settlers' pragmatic concerns over what plant material would survive in the North American climate. Therefore, representative primary sources are included on early botany, botanists, and botanical exploration, floras, natural history and naturalists, and travel and immigrant literature. Some secondary sources dealing with man's responses to the Canadian environment — histories of pioneer life, comments on early gardens, and general overviews of our landscape traditions — have also been noted. These sources reflect the frontier quality of our early gardens.

As Canada grew and prospered, subsistence was no longer a major concern. Leisure activincreased and gardening interests expanded. More and more, individuals realized the need for a greater variety of plants that would thrive in the severe climate and short growing season. By the 1860s, literature concerning general horticulture - how to cultivate, propagate, and maintain fruit, vegetable, and flower gardens - was increasing. Plant breeding and hardiness experiments were undertaken, with resulting publications, by the federal system of experimental farms established in the mid-1880s. This access to new plant materials and tested plant material stimulated the publishing of literature on practical (home) landscaping. Alongside the landscaping literature blossomed a small number of publications on garden ornaments.

For most of this review, emphasis has been placed on the literature that evolved from the early economic and scientific requirements of Canadian gardening. However, other concerns offering elaborations on the main theme have also been explored, for example, information relating specifically to regional gardens of historical interest. Because of their special gardening requirements and characteristics. northern gardens have been treated separate-Another interesting field of inquiry is railway gardening - a reflection of the iron road's prominence in the late 1800s and early 1900s. School gardening - horticulture as a moral influence and educator of the young was another early 20th-century concern. The establishment, from the 1830s on, of botanical gardens and parks reflects two of the great 19th-century enthusiasms: scientific horticul-

#### 6 INTRODUCTION

ture and urban environmental enrichment. The literature on landscape architects and gardeners is meager because many never published accounts of their work, design philosophy, or site plans, and few have yet been studied. The final area of interest examined is the publications of and about horticultural societies established in most cities by the mid-19th century.

For general reference purposes, a small, selected collection of allied bibliographies, histories, publications on historic garden sites, and book collections has been included. General pictorial works dealing with landscapes offer a reminder of the importance of the visual record in studying the gardens of the past. A selection of contemporary Canadian literature on garden and landscape restoration has also been noted as a further reference aid. This section comprises items on individual historic sites as well as general guidelines for landscape restoration.

A wealth of material exists in Canadian 19th- and 20th-century periodicals. A number of these reflecting our garden history have been examined and annotated. They comprise scientific, natural history, gardening/horticultural, landscape, and agricultural periodicals.

# **Topics Excluded**

In examining information related to the history of gardening in Canada, the larger landscape questions of which gardening forms a part have been excluded. The cultural landscape, the evidences of man's presence upon and shaping of the land, is too broad for inclusion in this study. Town planning, settlement patterns, and the many facets of agricultural technology, organizations, animal and plant material, and history lie outside its bounds. Because the focus of the bibliography is on the designed rather than on the natural landscape and garden, material on national and

provincial parks has also been eliminated. Trade catalogues (nursery, seed, etc.) have been omitted, but on this subject the reader may usefully refer to the 4000-item collection of catalogues in the Royal Botanical Gardens in Hamilton, Ontario. Time considerations have forced the exclusion of local histories, although many probably contain gardening references. For the same reason, the large mass of unpublished material in the form of manuscripts and typescripts (except theses) as well as such rich published sources as newspapers and government reports have been omitted.

British and American horticultural literature was available and read in Canada during the time period covered. However, these works were excluded as it is not known on a national scale which works were used, by whom, over how long a period, and with what regional variations. Inclusion of this literature might lead one to believe that in the absence of specific Canadian evidence, one could substitute British or American information with confidence. This would be highly inappropriate given the different climate, soils, topography, settlement patterns, etc., in Canada.

Although this is not a definitive collection, I hope the following bibliography will aid those involved in Canadian garden preservation.

#### **Endnotes**

For such background material, see Julia S. Berrall, The Garden An Illustrated History (London: Penguin Books, 1978); John B. Jackson, American Space, The Centennial Years 1865-1876 (New York: W.W. Norton & Co., 1972); Norman T. Newton, Design on the Land, The Development of Landscape Architecture (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1971); and Christopher Thacker, The History of Gardens (London: Croom Helm Ltd., 1979).

# REFERENCE

# Alderman, W.H.

Development of Horticulture on the Northern Great Plains. Great Plains Region, American Society for Horticulture Science, n.p., 1962. 198 pp.

Alexandrin, Barbara, and Robert Bothwell, comps.

Bibliography of the Material Culture of New France. Publications in History No. 4, National Museums of Canada, Ottawa, 1970. 32 pp.

Bailey, Liberty Hyde

Cyclopedia of American Horticulture, Comprising Suggestions for Cultivation of Horticultural Plants, Descriptions of the Species of Fruits, Vegetables, Flowers, and Ornamental Plants Sold in the United States and Canada, Together with Geographical and Biographical Sketches. 4 vols. Macmillan, New York, 1900-02.

Bogne, A.G.

"The Agricultural Press in Ontario in the 1880s." Ontario History, Vol. 38 (1946), pp. 43-50. Toronto.

Buggey, Susan

"Period Gardens in Canada: A Researcher's Resources." Research Bulletin No. 87, Parks Canada, Ottawa, 1978.

---. "Les jardins historiques au Canada: une des ressources du chercheur." <u>Bulletin de Recherches</u>, No. 87, Parcs Canada, Ottawa, 1978.

Canada. Department of Agriculture. Head-quarters Library.

Publications of the Canada Department of Agriculture 1867-1974. 2nd. revised edition, Ottawa, 1975. 341 pp.

---. Chapais Collection. 1976. 77 pp.

Catalogue of the Library and Museum of the Natural History Society of Montreal. Lovell and Gibsen, Montreal, 1946.

Crawford, Pleasance, and Sue Donaldson, eds.
The Canadian Landscape and Garden History
Directory. Faculty of Environmental Design,
University of Calgary, Calgary, 1984. 54 pp.

Dakin, John, and Pamela Manson-Smith

Toronto Urban Planning: A Selected Bibliography, 1788-1970. Vance Bibliography No. 670, Council of Planning Librarians, Monticello, Ill., 1974. 31 pp.

Dionne, Narcisse-Eutrope

Inventaire chronologique des livres, brochures, journaux, et revues publiés en diverse langues dans et hors la province de Québec. 4 vols. J. Hope, Ottawa; Québec; Copp-Clark, Toronto; B. Quaritch, London, 1905-09. Premier supplement, 1904-1912. Québec, 1912. 76 pp. Reprint: 2 vols. B. Franklin, New York, 1969. Reprint: AMS Press, New York, 1974.

Duke, Dorothy M.

Agricultural Periodicals Published in Canada, 1836-1960. Information Division, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1962. 101 pp.

Erskine, John S.

The French Period in Nova Scotia A.D. 1500-1758 and Present Remains, A Historical, Archaeological and Botanical Survey. N.p., Wolfville, N.S., 1975. 55 pp., illus.

Lothian, W.F.

A History of Canada's National Parks. 4 vols. Parks Canada, Ottawa, 1976-81. Illus.

Manitoba. Dept. of Agriculture and Immigration.

Books on Decorative Gardening in the Winnipeg Public Library. Circular 81, Winnipeg, 1926. 4 pp.

Ronald, W.G., ed.

The Development of Manitoba's Nursery and Landscape Industry. Manitoba Nursery and Landscape Association, Winnipeg, 1983. 74 pp. illus.

Ross, Alexander M.

The College on the Hill, A History of the Ontario Agricultural College, 1874-1974. Copp Clark Publishing, Toronto; OAC Alumni Assoc., Guelph, Ont., 1974. 180 pp., illus.

#### 8 REFERENCE

# Shoemaker, James S.

A Guide to Reading: Home Gardening. Canadian Legion Educational Services, Ottawa, 1944. 12 pp.

# Stewart, John J., ed.

"Historic Gardens in Canada and the United States." APT Newsletter, Vol. 2, No. 3 (June 1973), pp. 1-22. Ottawa.

Stuntz, Stephen Conrad, comp.

List of Agricultural Periodicals of the United States and Canada Published During the Century July 1810 to July 1910. Emma B. Hawks, ed. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1941. 190 pp. S.R. Scholarly Resources, Wilmington, Del., 1973. 190 pp.

# Sykes, Meredith, and John J. Stewart, eds.

"Historic Landscape Restoration in the United States and Canada: An Annotated Source Outline." APT Bulletin, Vol. 4, No. 4 (1972), pp. 114-58. Ottawa.

### von Baeyer, Edwinna, comp.

Ontario Rural Society, 1867-1930: A Thematic Index of Selected Ontario Agricultural Periodicals. Published by author, Ottawa, 1985. 37 pp., microfiche.

## PICTORIAL WORKS

Allodi, Mary, comp.

Canadian Watercolours and Drawings in the Royal Ontario Museum. 2 vols. Royal Ontario Museum, Toronto, 1974, illus.

Argyll, John Douglas, Marquis of Lorne

Canadian Pictures, Drawn with Pen and Pencil. T. Nelson, New York, ca. 1883. 224 pp., illus. The Religious Tract Society published editions in 1884, (new edition) 1885, 1886 (191 pp.), 1891 (191 pp.), (3rd ed.) 1892. Retitled edition: Canada, 100 Years Ago: The Beauty of Old Canada Illustrated. Bracken Books, London, 1985. 224 pp., illus.

# Bell, Michael, comp.

Painters in a New Land: From Annapolis Royal to the Klondike. McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1973. 244 pp., illus. New York Graphic Society, New York, 1973. 224 pp., illus.

Cameron, Christina, and Jean Trudel

The Drawings of James Cockburn: A Visit Through Quebec's Past. Gage Publishing, Toronto, 1976. 176 pp., illus.

---. Quebec au temps de James Pattison Cockburn. Éditions Garneau, Québec, 1976. 176 pp., illus.

# Careless, J.M.S., W.S. MacNutt, et al.

The Pioneers: The Picture Story of Canadian Settlement. Canadian Illustrated Library. McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1968. 127 p., illus. Rev. ed., 1973. 127 pp., illus.

DeVolpi, Charles P., comp.

The Eastern Townships, A Pictorial Record; Historical Prints and Illustrations of the Eastern Townships of the Province of Quebec, Canada.... Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1962. Illus.

- ---. <u>Montreal: recueil iconographique, ...</u> 1535-1885. 2 vols. Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1963.
- ---. Montreal, a Pictorial Record; ... 1535-1885. 2 vols. Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1963.
- --- Ottawa, a Pictorial Record; ... 1807-1882. Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1964. 263 pp., illus.

---. Toronto, a Pictorial Record; ... 1813-1882. Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1965. 259 pp., illus.

---. The Niagara Peninsula, a Pictorial Record; ... 1697-1880. Dev-Sco Publications, Montreal, 1966. 259 pp., illus.

---. Québec; recueil iconographique; ... 1680-1825. Longmans Canada, Toronto, 1971.

--- Newfoundland, a Pictorial Record; ... 1497-1887. Longmans Canada, Don Mills, Ont., 1972.

---. British Columbia, a Pictorial Record; ... 1778-1891. Longmans Canada, Toronto, 1973. ---. Nova Scotia, a Pictorial Record; ... 1605-1878. Longmans Canada, Don Mills, Ont., 1974.

Grant, George Monro, ed.

Picturesque Canada: The Country As It Was and Is. 2 vols. Belden Bros., Toronto; Clarke, Toronto; Art Publishing Co., Toronto, 1882, illus. Art Publishing Co., 1882-84. Clarke, Toronto, 1884.

---. Picturesque Canada: A Pictorial Delineation of the Beauties of Canadian Scenery and Life. 2 vols. Cassell, Potter, Galpin, London, ca. 1882, 1882-85, 1885-88 (6 vols.), illus.

---. Picturesque Canada. 41 parts. J. Clarke, New York, 1894, illus.

## Greenhill, Ralph

Early Photography in Canada. Oxford University Press, Toronto, 1965. 173 pp., illus.

Harper, J. Russell

Painting in Canada. A History. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1966. 443 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., 1977, 463 pp., illus.

---. La peinture au Canada: des origines à nous jours. Presses de l'université Laval, Québec, 1966. 442 pp., illus.

## Holme, Charles, ed.

Art of the British Empire Overseas. London, 1917; John Lane Co., 'The Studio,' New York, 1917. 144 pp., illus.

#### Kneeland, Stillman Foster

Canadian Scenery: Pattison's Niagara Falls in Winter, and Other Paintings Loaned to the Canadian Club. New York, 1888. 7 pp., illus.

## 10 PICTORIAL WORKS

#### Lee, T.R.

"Daniel Fowler." Ontario Historical Society Reports, Vol. 50 (1958), pp. 211-18, and Vol. 52 (1960), pp. 98-110. Toronto.

## Porter, John Robert

The Works of Joseph Légaré, 1795-1855: Catalogue raisonné. National Gallery of Canada, Ottawa, 1978. 160 pp., illus.

## Rees, Ronald

"Images of the Prairie: Landscape Painting and Perception in the Western Interior of Canada." The Canadian Geographer, Vol. 20, No. 3 (Fall 1976), pp. 259-78. Toronto.

---. Land of Earth and Sky: Landscape Painting of Western Canada. Western Producer Prairie Books, Saskatoon, 1984. 148 pp., illus.

Sparling, Mary

"The British Vision in Nova Scotia, 1749-1848. Views of the Artists Reflected and Reinforced." M.Ed. thesis, Dalhousie University, Halifax, 1978. 186 pp., illus.

--- Great Expectations: The European Vision in Nova Scotia, 1749-1848. Art Gallery, Mount Saint Vincent University, Halifax, N.S., 1980. 86 pp., illus.

---. De grandes espérances: la vision européenne en Nouvelle-Écosse, 1749-1848. Cécile Grenier and Suzie Toutant, trans. Art Gallery, Mount Saint Vincent Univ., Halifax, 1980. 86 pp., illus.

# Willis, Nathaniel Parker

Canadian Scenery Illustrated. 3 vols. George Virtue, London, 1840. 2nd ed., 2 vols. 1842, 186?, illus. 2 vols. Virtue and Yorston, New York, 1885-1876, illus.

---- Canada pittoresque. 2 vols. Translated from the English by L. de Bauclas, George Virtue, London, 1843.

---. Canadian Scenery Illustrated. 2 vols. Peter Martin Associates, Toronto, 1967. illus.

#### GENERAL.

# Abrahamson, Una

God Bless Our Home. Domestic Life in Nineteenth Century Canada. Burns and Mac-Eachern, Toronto, 1966. 233 pp., illus.

## Allen, Richard, ed.

Man and Nature on the Prairies. Canadian Plains Studies No. 6, Canadian Plains Research Centre, University of Regina, Regina, 1976. 99 pp.

#### Arkell, Reginald

Green Fingers. McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1936. 93 pp., illus.

# Cole, Douglas, and Maria Tippett

"Pleasing Diversity and Sublime Desolation, The 18th-Century British Perception of the Northwest Coast." Pacific Northwest Quarterly, Vol. 56, No. 1 (Jan. 1974), pp. 1-7. Vancouver.

# Craig, Martha

The Garden of Canada, Burlington, Oakville and District. William Briggs, Toronto, 1902. Reprint Joseph Brant Museum and the Burlington Historical Society, Burlington, Ont., 1973. 95 pp., illus.

### Crawford, Pleasance

"Some Early Ontario Nurserymen." <u>Canadian</u> Horticultural History, Vol. 1, No. 1 (1985), pp. 28-64. Hamilton, Ont.

## Donaldson, Sue

"Landscape Architecture in Canada." Landscape Architectural Review, Vol. 5, No. 2 (July 1984), pp. 12-24, 39-44. Willowdale, Ont.

#### Gibson, Edward M.W.

"The Impact of Social Belief on Landscape Change." Ph.D. thesis, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, 1971. 237 pp., illus.

# Grant, George M.

French Canadian Life and Character. Alexander Belford & Co., Chicago, 1899. 249 pp., illus.

## Guillet, Edwin C.

Early Life in Upper Canada. The Ontario Publishing Co., Toronto, 1923. 782 pp. ---. Pioneer Social Life. The Ontario Publishing Co., Toronto, 1938. 124 pp., illus. ---. Pioneer Arts and Crafts. The Ontario Publishing Co., Toronto, 1940. 102 pp., illus. ---. The Pioneer Farmer and Backwoodsman. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1963. 2 vols. Vol. 2, 390 pp.

# Haight, Canniff

Country Life in Canada Fifty Years Ago: Personal Recollections and Reminiscences of a Sexagenarian. Hunter, Rose, Toronto, 1885. 303 pp., illus. Facsimile edition published by Mika Publishing Co., Belleville, Ont., 1971, 1974. 310 pp., illus.

# Johnston, T.T.

"The Rose." The Canadian Monthly and National Review, Vol. 10, No. 3 (Sept. 1876), pp. 217-19. Toronto.

# Lawn and Garden Trade

"A Tradition of Service: Ritchie Feed and Seed Celebrates 50 Years." Vol. 9, No. 5 (1981), pp. 16-17. Ottawa.

# Lewis, E.

"Grandmother's Old Fashioned Garden." Atlantic Advocate, Vol. 70 (June 1980), pp. 86-87. Fredericton, N.B.

## McKinley, J.

"What Makes the Canadian Garden Canadian?" Canadian Homes and Gardening, Vol. 29, No. 2 (Feb. 1952), pp. 9, 37. Toronto.

# Major, Marjorie

From the Ground ... The Story of Planting in Nova Scotia. Petheric Press, Halifax, 1981. 112 pp. illus.

## Mannion, John J.

Irish Settlements in Eastern Canada: A Study of Cultural Transfer and Adaptation. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1974. 219 pp., illus.

# Martyn, Lucy Booth

Toronto: 100 Years of Grandeur: The Inside Stories of Toronto's Great Homes and the People Who Lived There. Pagurian Press, Toronto, 1978. 240 pp., illus.

---. Aristocratic Toronto: 19th Century Grandeur: More Stories of the Fascinating Homes and Elegant People of Early Toronto. Gage Publishing, Toronto, 1980. 224 pp., illus.

---. The Face of Early Toronto: An Archival Record, 1797-1936. Paget Press, Sutton West, Ont., 1982. 157 pp., illus.

# Minhinnick, Jeanne

At Home in Upper Canada. Clarke, Irwin, Toronto, 1970. 228 pp., illus.

# Mooney, Patrick

"Landscape and Culture in North Easthope Township, Southern Ontario, 1829-1856." M.A. thesis, York Univ., Toronto, 1970. 126 pp., illus.

Morgan, Mary

"A Talk About Flowers." Rose-Belford's Canadian Monthly and National Review, Vol. 7, No. 11 (Nov. 1881), pp. 459-64. Toronto.

#### Nelson, J.G.

Man's Impact on the Western Canadian Landscape. McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1976. 205 pp., illus.

## Patterson, Nancy-Lou

"Waterloo Region Gardens in the Germanic Tradition." Material History Bulletin, Vol. 19 (Spring 1984), pp. 49-52. Ottawa.

---. "Landscape and Meaning, Structure and Symbolism of the Swiss-German Mennonite Farmstead." Canadian Ethnic Studies, Vol. 16, No. 3 (1984), pp. 35-52. Calgary.

---. "Gardens, Hearts and Distelfinken: Symbols in Mennonite Folk Art Speak of Paradise." Canadian Collector, Vol. 19, No. 5 (Sept. 1984), pp. 36-39. Toronto.

#### Pearson, Norman

"A Century of Change in the Cultural Landscape of Ontario." The Ontario Naturalist, Vol. 5, No. 2 (June 1967), pp. 9-11. Ottawa.

## Rouslin, Virginia Watson

"The Intelligent Woman's Guide to Pioneering in Canada." Dalhousie Review, Vol. 56, No. 2 (Summer 1976), pp. 319-35. Halifax.

### Russell, Loris

Everyday Life in Colonial Canada. Copp Clark, Toronto; B.T. Basford, London, 1973, 206 pp., illus.

### Scherck, Michael Gonder

Pen Pictures of Early Pioneer Life in Upper Canada, by a Canuck. William Briggs, Toronto, 1905. Reprint, Coles, Toronto, 1972. 280 pp., illus.

Séguin, Robert-Lionel

La civilisation traditionnelle de l' "habitant" au 17e et 18e siècles, fonds matériel. Fides, Montreal, 1967. 701 pp., illus. 2nd ed., 1973. 701 pp., illus.

# Shepperson, Wilbur S.

"Agrarian Aspects of Early Victorian Emigration to North America." <u>Canadian Historical</u> Review, Vol. 33 (1952), pp. 254-64. Toronto.

# Stewart, John J.

"Canada's Landscape Heritage." <u>Landscape Planning</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2 (August 1979), pp. 205-24. Amsterdam, Netherlands.

# Tippett, Maria, and Douglas Cole

From Desolation to Splendor: Changing Perceptions of the British Columbia Landscape. Clarke, Irwin, Toronto, 1977. 159 pp., illus.

#### von Baeyer, Edwinna

Rhetoric and Roses: A History of Canadian Gardening, 1900-1930. Fitzhenry and Whiteside, Toronto, 1984. 197 pp., illus.

---. "The Green City." Horizon Canada, Vol. 6, No. 69 (June 1986), pp. 1640-45. Saint-Laurent, Que.

# Waterston, Christina M., and John J. Stewart

"The English Landscape Style and Its Adaptation in Canada." Landscape Architecture Canada, Vol. 4, No. 4 (1979), pp. 14-23. Toronto.

# Waterston, Elizabeth, and Douglas Hoffman, eds.

On Middle Ground: Landscape and Life in Wellington County, 1841-1891. University of Guelph, Guelph, Ont., 1974. 79 pp., illus., maps, tables.

## BOTANISTS/BOTANICAL EXPLORATION

Audet, Louis-Philippe

Le Frère Marie-Victorin, éducateur ses idées pédagogiques. Preface by Mgr. Philippe Perrier. Les Éditions de l'Érable, Montreal, 1942. 283 pp.

Barnston, James

Hints to the Young Botanist. J. Lovell, Montreal, 1857, 10 pp.

## Beaudet, Gilles

Frère Marie-Victorin, Lidec, Montreal, 1985. 64 pp.

#### Brunet, Ovide

Voyage d'André Michaux en Canada.... Bureau de l'Abeille, Québec, 1861. 27 pp.

Michaux and His Journey in Canada. 1863. 13 pp.

---. Notice sur les plantes de Michaux et sur son voyage au Canada et à la baie d'Hudson: d'après son journal manuscrit et autres documents inédits. Bureau de l'Abeille. Ouébec. 1863. 44 pp.

---. Notice sur le Musée botanique de l'université Laval: discours prononcé en séance solennelle le 8 juillet 1867. A. Côté, Québec, 1867. 14 pp.

## Burgess, Thomas Joseph Workman

How to Study Botany. N.p., Hamilton, Ont., 1888. 27 pp.

---. "Notes on the Study of Botany." Ottawa Naturalist, Vol. 9, No. 12 (March 1896), pp. 241-261.

#### Cing-Mars, Lionel

"Dédicace, l'abbé Léon Provancher, 1820-1892." Provancheria, Herbier Louis-Marie, Université Laval, Québec, 1967. pp. 5-16.

# Charlevoix, Pierre-F.-X. de, Père

Histoire et description générale de la Nouvelle France, avec le Journal historique d'un voyage fait par ordre du Roi dans l'Amerique Septentrionnale. 3 vols. Rolin Fils, Paris 1744, illus. Chez la veuve Ganeau, Paris, 1744. 3 vols. Didot, Paris, 1744. 6 vols. P.-F. Giffart, Paris, 1744. 3 vols. Nyon, Paris, 1744. Editions Elysées, Montreal, 1976, illus.

---. Journal of a Voyage to North America.... 2 vols. Translated from the French, R. and J. Dodsley, London, 1761, 1766, 1772,

Letters to the Dutchess Lesdiguières... 3 vols. R. Goadby, London. 1763, 1764. 2 vols. L.P. Kellogg, ed. The Caxton Club, Chicago, 1923, illus. 2 vols. Readex, New York, 1966.

A Voyage to North America.... 2 vols. J. Exshaw and J. Potts, Dublin, 1766, illus.

---. History and General Description of New France. 6 vols. Translated by John Gilmary Shea, J.G. Shea, New York, 1866-1872, 6 vols. Translated by John Gilmary Shea, F.P. Harper, New York, 1900, 1902. 6 vols. Loyola University Press, Chicgo, 1962, illus.

## Dansereau, Pierre

"La tradition botanique à Montréal." Culture. Vol. 17 (1973), pp. 379-87. Montreal.

## Davies, John

Douglas of the Forests: The North American Journals of David Douglas. Harris, Edinburgh, 1980. 188 pp.

# Dawson, Sir John William

Fifty Years of Work in Canada Scientific and Educational: Being Autobiographical Notes.... Rankine Dawson, ed. Ballantyne, Hanson and Co., London and Edinburgh, 1901. 308 pp.

## Dionne, Yves-M.

Ernest Lepage, prêtre, et ses explorations botaniques. Université du Québec à Rimouski, Rimouski, Que., 1977. 42 pp.

Douglas, David

Journal Kept by David Douglas During his Travels in North America, 1823-1827, Together with a Particular Description of Thirty-Three Species of American Oaks and Eighteen Species of Pinus sic, with Appendices Containing a List of the Plants Introduced by Douglas and an Account of his Death in 1834. Published under the direction of the Royal Horticultural Society, W. Wesley, London, 1914. 364 pp., illus.

# Downie, Mary Alice, and Mary Hamilton

"And Some Brought Flowers" Plants in a New World. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1980. Illus. by E.J. Revell.

#### Erichsen-Brown, Charlotte

Use of Plants for the Past 500 Years. Breezy Creeks Press, Aurora, Ont. (P.O. Box 104), 1979. 510 pp., illus.

# Fernand, M.L.

A Botanical Expedition to Newfoundland and Labrador. Reprint from Rhodora, Vol. 13 (July 1911).

# Gauvreau, Marcelle

Le président de l'ACFAS pour 1937-38: le Frère Marie-Victorin, Biographie et bibliographie. Montreal, 1938. Reprinted from Annales de l'ACFAS, Vol. 4 (1938), pp. 144-89. Montreal.

### Glover, R.

"The Man Who Did Not Go to California." In Historical Papers. Canadian Historical Association, Ottawa, 1975. pp. 95-112.

#### Goldie, John

Diary of a Journey Through Upper Canada and Some of the New England States, 1819. W. Tyrrell & Co., Toronto, 1897. 56 pp.

#### **Guelph Historical Society**

"Guelph Botanical Club." Guelph Historical Society Publications, Vol. 8, No. 2 (1968), pp.

#### Hector, James, Sir

On the Physical Features of the Central Part of British North America, and on its Capabilities for Settlement. Neill, Edinburgh, 1861. 35 pp.

## Hellson, John C.

Ethnobotany of the Blackfoot Indians. Canadian Ethnology Service, National Museums of Canada, Ottawa, 1974. 138 pp., illus.

## Holloway, Trevor

"David Douglas: Botanical Columbus and Plant Hunter Extraordinary." The American West, Vol. 13, No. 2 (March/April 1960-61), pp. 46-51. Cupertino, Calif.

# Hooker, Sir William

Flora Boreali-Americana, or the Botany of the Northern Parts of British America .... H.G. Bohn, London, 1829. New ed., 1840. Reprint 2 vols. Wesley, Codicote, Hertfordshire, 1960.

## Kalm, Pehr (Peter)

Travels into North America, Containing its Natural History, and a Circumstantial Account of its Plantations and Agricultural in General, with the Civil, Ecclesiastical and Commercial State of the Country, the Manners of the Inhabitants, and Several Curious and Important Remarks on Various Subjects. 3 vols. John Reinold Forster, trans. T. Lowndes, London 1753-61, illus. 2nd ed., 1770-71, 1772. Revised English version of 1770 edition, Adolf B. Benson, ed., vols. 1 and 2, Dover Publications, New York, 1966.

--- Travels into North America. John Reinhold Foster, trans. Imprint Society, Barre, Mass., 1972. 514 pp., illus.

--- Voyage de Pehr Kalm au Canada en 1749. Translated and annotated by Jacques Rousseau and Guy Béthune. P. Tisseyre, Montreal, 1977. 674 pp., illus.

#### Kucvniak, James

"Frère Marie-Victorin (1885-1944)," Rhodora, Vol. 48 (Oct. 1946), pp. 266-272.

## Lawson, George

On the Present State of Botany in Canada: With Suggestions as to Promising Lines of Investigations, and a Proposal for United Effort in Systematic Observation Throughout the Several Provinces and Territories. Reprinted from Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, Section IV, 1891, pp. 17-20.

#### Lizars, K.M.

"The Tramp of a Botanist Through Upper Canada, 1819." John Goldie. Women's Canadian Historical Society of Toronto, <u>Transactions</u>, Vol. 12 (1913), Toronto.

## Louis-Marie, Père, O.C.S.O.

Le botaniste-amateur en campagne.... Institut agricole d'Oka, Oka, Que., n.d. Illus.

## Lysaght, Averil M., ed.

Joseph Banks in Newfoundland and Labrador, 1766: His Diary, Manuscripts, and Collections. Faber and Faber, London, 1971. 512 pp.

Macoun, John, and H.B. Spotton

The Elements of Structural Botany: With Special Reference to the Study of Canadian Plants: To Which is Added a Selection of Examination Papers. Third edition, W.J. Gage, Toronto, 1879. 144 pp., illus. New ed., 1882. 144 pp., illus. Rev. ed., 1888, 1889. 237 pp., illus.

Mennell, Henry Tuke

Across Canada to the Rocky Mountains. Sessions, York, England, 1885. 12 pp.

Michaux, André

Flora Boreali-Americana, Sistens Caracteres Plantarum Quas in America Septentrionali Collegit et Detexit Andreas Michaux.... 2 vols. Paris and Strasbourg; Crapelet, Paris, 1803. 2 vols. Bibliopola Journaux Junior, Paris, 1820. New ed. 2 vols. Hafner Press, New York, 1974, illus.

---- Portions of the Journal of André Michaux, Botanist, Written During his Travels in the United States and Canada, 1785 to 1786. Explanatory notes by C.S. Sargent. N.p., 1889. 145 pp.

Morwood, William

Traveler in a Vanished Landscape: The Life and Times of David Douglas. Clarkson N. Potter, New York, 1973. 244 pp., illus.

Moyen, Jean

Cours élémentaire de botanique et flore du Canada à l'usage des maisons d'éducation. G.E. Desbarats, Montreal, 1871. 334 pp., illus. 2nd ed., revised, augmented and corrected by A. Orban. Cadieux and Derome, Montreal, 1885. 418 pp., illus.

Penhallow, David P.

The Botannical Collector's Guide: A Manual for Students and Collectors, Containing Directions for Collection and Preservation of Plants and the Formation of a Herbarium. Renouf, Montreal, 1891. 125 pp., illus.

---. Plant Life. Drysdale, Montreal, 1891.

---. "A Review of Canadian Botany from the First Settlement of New France to the Nineteenth Century, Part I." Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, Vol. 5, Section 4 (1887), pp. 45-61.

---. "A Review of Canadian Botany from 1800 to 1895." <u>Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, Section 4 (1897)</u>, pp. 3-56. Toronto.

Pringle, James S.

"Anne Mary Perceval (1790-1876), An Early Botanical Collector in Lower Canada." <u>Canadian Horticultural History</u>. Vol. 1, No. 1 (1985), pp. 7-13. Hamilton, Ont.

Provancher, Léon, l'abbé

Traité élémentaire de botanique: à l'usage des maisons d'éducation et des amateurs qui voudraient se livrer à l'étude de cette science sans le secours d'un maître. St. Michel and Darveau, Montreal, 1858. 118 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., revised. J.-A. Langlais, Québec, 1884. 168 pp., illus.

Provencher, Jean-Paul

"Un grand botaniste est né dans le Bois-francs il y a cent ans." Aux sources des Bois-francs. Vol. 3, No. 3 (March 1895), pp. 91-7. Victoriaville, Que.

Raymond, Marcel

"Personal Recollections of Frère Marie Victorin," in The Evolution of Canada's Flora, R.L. Taylor and R.A. Ludwig, eds. Univ. of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1966, illus.

Rousseau, Jacques

Essai de bibliographie botanique canadienne, l. Institut botanique, Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1934. 101 pp.
---. La botanique canadienne à l'époque de

Jacques Cartier. H.G. Fielder, New York; Institut botanique, Montreal, 1937. 86 pp. ---. "Le voyage d'André Michaux au Lac Mistassini en 1792." Revue d'histoire de l'Amérique française, vol. 2 (1948-49), pp. 390-423.

Rousseau, Jacques and William G. Dore L'oublié de l'histoire de la science canadienne: George Lawson, 1827-1895. Sponsored by the Royal Society of Canada. Studia Varia No. 9. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1966.

Rousseau, Jacques, and Marcel Raymond Études ethnobotaniques québécoises. Institut botanique, Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1945. 154 pp., illus.

## 16 BOTANISTS/BOTANICAL EXPLORATION

# Rousseau, Jacques, Marcelle Gauvreau, and Claire Morin

Bibliographie des travaux botaniques contenus dans les "Mémoires et Comptes rendus de la Société Royale du Canada," de 1882 à 1936 inclusivement. H.G. Fielder, New York; Institut botanique de l'Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1939. 117 pp.

Rumilly, Robert

Le Frère Marie-Victorin et son temps. Les Frères des écoles chrétiennes, Montreal, 1949. 459 pp., illus.

# Stewart, William G.

George Lewis Fisher (1868-1953): Director of Music and Botanist Extraordinaire of St. Thomas, Ontario. Published by author, St. Thomas, Ont., 1983. 102 pp., illus.

# Stewart, W.G.

Testimonials in Favor of George Lawson, LL.D.: Formerly Demonstrator of Botany and Histology in the University of Edinburgh, and Interim Lecturer on Natural Science in the New College, Edinburgh; Afterwards Professor of Natural History and Chemistry in Queen's College, Kingston, and Presently Professor of Chemistry and Natural Science, in Dalhousie College and University, Halifax, Nova Scotia. Nova Scotia Print Co., Halifax, N.S., 1874. 19 pp.

# Thomson, R.B.

"A Sketch of the Past Fifty Years of Canadian Botany." in Royal Society of Canada Fifty Years Retrospect, Anniversary Volume, 1882-1932. Royal Society of Canada, Toronto, 1930-1939.

# Vallée, Arthur

Un biologiste canadien Michel Sarrazin, 1659-1735. Ls.-A. Proulx, Imprimeur du roi, Québec, 1927. 291 pp.

#### **FLORAS**

Adams, John

"Medicinal Plants of Quebec." Quebec Society for the Protection of Plants Seventh Annual Report, C.E. Cinq-Mars, King's Printer, Québec, 1915, pp. 50-4.

---. Medicinal Plants and Their Cultivation in Canada. Second Series, Bulletin 23, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1915; New Series Bulletin No. 36, 1923; Farmer's Bulletin, 1936; rev. ed., Publication No. 484, 1940.

---. A Survey of Canadian Plants in Relation to Their Environment. New Series Bulletin No. 58, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1926. 60 pp.

--- A Short Guide to Canadian Genera of Seed Plants. New Series Bulletin No. 58, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1927.

# Adams, John, M.H. Norwell, H.A. Senn, and others

"A Bibliography of Canadian Plant Geography, 1635-1945." Transactions of the Royal Canadian Institute, Vol. 17, Part 2, No. 38 (July 1930) to Vol. 26, Part 2, No. 56 (October 1947), in 9 parts. Toronto.

Anderson, James R.

Trees and Shrubs; Food, Medicinal and Poisonous Plants of British Columbia. Dept. of Education, Victoria, B.C., 1925. 165 pp., illus.

Barnston, James

List of Plants from North of Lake St. John. N.p., Ottawa?, 1872.

Billings, B.

List of Plants Collected by B. Billings in the Vicinity of Ottawa During the Summer of 1866. Reprint from the Transactions of the Ottawa Natural History Society, 1867. Commentary by W.G. Dore, Plant Research Institute, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1968.

#### Black, Martha Louise

Yukon Wild Flowers. Price, Templeton Syndicate, Vancouver, B.C. 1940?. 95 pp., illus.

Blanchan, Neltje, pseud. (Doubleday, Nellie)
Canadian Flowers Worth Knowing, Adapted
from the Works of Neltje Blanchan, by Asa
Don Dickinson. Musson Book, Toronto, 1917.
270 pp.

Boivin, Bernard

"La flore du Canada en 1708: étude d'un manuscrit de Michel Sarrazin et Sébastien Vaillant." <u>Provancheria</u> No. 9, Herbier Louis-Marie, Université Laval, Québec, 1978. Illus. ---. "Survey of Canadian Herbaria." <u>Provancheria</u> No. 10, Herbier Louis-Marie, Université Laval, Québec, 1980. 187 pp.

Britton, Nathaniel L., and Addison Brown
An Illustrated Flora of the Northern United
States, Canada and The British Possessions
from Newfoundland to the Parallel.... 3 vols.
Scribner, New York, 1896-1898, illus.

Brown, Robert

Chloris Melvilliana. A List of Plants Collected in Melville Island (Lat. 74°-75°N, Long. 110°-112°W) in the Year 1820; by the Officers of the Voyage of Discovery under the Orders of Captain Parry. With Characters and Descriptions of the New Genera and Species. W. Clowes, London, 1823. 52 pp.

Also published as No. XI of the Appendix of Captain Parry's Journal of a Voyage for the Discovery of a North-West Passage.... J. Murray, London, 1821.

Brown, Stewardson

Alpine Flora of the Canadian Rocky Mountains. G.P. Putnam and Sons, New York, 1907.

Brunet, Ovide

Enumération des genres de plantes de la flore du Canada: précédée des tableaux analytiques des familles et destinée aux élèves qui suivent le cours de botanique descriptive donné à l'Université Laval. G. & G.E. Desbarats, Québec, 1864. 45 pp.

---. Catalogue des plantes canadiennes contenues dans l'herbier de l'Université Laval et recueillies pendant les années 1858-65. C. Darveau, Québec, 1865. 64 pp.

---. Notes sur les plantes recueilles en 1858 par M. l'abbé Ferland, sur les côtes de Labrador, baignées par les eaux du Saint Laurent. N.p., n.p., 186?. 6pp.

---. Eléments de botanique et de physiologie végétale.... P. Delisle, Québec, 1870. Illus.

#### Bull, Perkins

From Spring to Autumn: Favourite Wild Flowers Found in the Meadows and Copses of Ontario's Keystone County. The Perkins Bull Foundation, G.L. McLeod Ltd., Toronto, 1937. 62 pp.

## Cameron, Roderick

Catalogue of the Plants Which Have Been Found Growing Without Cultivation in the Park and Its Outlying Territories.... (Queen Victoria Niagara Falls Park). Warwick Bros. & Rutter, Toronto, 1895. 46 pp. Rev. ed., 1896. 59 pp.

# Campbell, Robert

The Flora of Montreal Island. Reprinted from the Canadian Record of Science, Oct. 1892. pp. 210-34.

---. Supplemental Notes on the Flora of Capà-l'Aigle. Reprinted from the Canadian Record of Science, Jan. 1892. pp. 38-40.

## Clarke, Jane

Our Local Flora. From the Selected Papers of the Proceedings of the Elora Natural History Society, 1874-75, Elora, Ont.

## Cornuti, Jacobi (Cornut, Jacques Philippe)

Canadensium Plantarum Aliarumque Nondum Editarum Historia.... Printed by Simonem Le Moyne, Paris, 1635. 238 pp., illus. Reprint: Introduction by Jerry Stannard, Johnson Reprint Co., New York, 1966. 238 pp., illus.

# Day, David Fisher

A Catalogue of the Flowering and Fern-like Plants Growing Without Cultivation in the Vicinity of the Falls of Niagara. Troy Press Co., Troy, N.Y., 1888.

#### Dodge, Charles Keene

Annotated List of Flowering Plants and Ferns of Point Pelee, Ontario and Neighbouring Districts. Government Printing Bureau, Ottawa, 1914. 131 pp., illus.

# Drummond, Andrew Thomas

Some Statistical Features of the Flora of Ontario and Quebec And a Comparison with Those of the United States Flora. N.p., n.p., 1868.

# Erichsen-Brown, Charlotte

Use of Plants for the Past 500 Years. Breezy Creeks Press, Aurora, Ont., 1979. 512 pp., illus.

# Fletcher, James

Flora Ottawaensis. W.T. Mason, Ottawa, 1890. 77 pp.

# Fowler, James

List of New Brunswick Plants. N.p., Fredericton, N.B., 1878.

---. Additions to the List of New Brunswick Plants. N.p., Fredericton, N.B., 1879, 1880.
---. Preliminary List of the Plants of New Brunswick. Ellis, Robertson & Co., Saint John, N.B., 1885. 82 pp.

# Fyles, Faith

Principal Poisonous Plants of Canada. Bulletin No. 39, Second Series, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1920. 112 pp., illus.

#### Garden Club of Toronto (The)

Plants of Pioneer and Early Days in Ontario. Toronto, 1970. 67 pp. 2nd ed., 1975. 3rd. ed., Don Mills, Ont., 1979. 67 pp.

#### Goldie, John

Descriptions of New and Rare Plants Discovered in Canada in 1819. Communicated by Dr. Hooker, William Spawn, editor. Edinburgh Philosophical Society, Edinburgh, 1822. 16 pp. Reprinted from Edinburgh Philosophical Journal, Vol. 6 (1822), pp. 319-33.

# Griffith, Braham Grey

A Pocket Guide to the Trees and Shrubs of British Columbia. British Columbia, Forest Branch, Victoria, 1934. 108 pp. 2nd. ed., 1937. 69 pp. 3rd. ed., revised by E.H. Garman, 1963. 137 pp., illus.

Hales, Benjamin Jones

Forests and Trees. Macmillan, Toronto, 1919.

205 pp., illus.

---. Selected Western Flora, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Alberta. Macmillan, Toronto, 1915. 196 pp., illus. 2nd. ed?, 1925. 196 pp., illus.

Hamilton, George H.

Plants of the Niagara Parks System of Ontario. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1943. 233 pp., illus.

Henry, Joseph Kaye

Flora of Southern British Columbia and Vancouver Island. With many References to Alaska and Northern Species. W.J. Gage, Toronto, 1915. 363 pp.

Holmes, E.M.

"Medicinal Plants Used by the Cree Indians, Hudson's Bay Territory." Pharmaceutical Journal Transactions III, Vol. 15, 1884, pp. 302-4. London.

Hubbert, Rev. James

Catalogue of the Flowering Plants and Ferns Indigenous to, or Naturalized in, Canada. To Facilitate the Exchanging of Specimens, etc. Dawson Bros., Montreal, 1867; G. Mercer Adam, Toronto, n.d. 28 pp.

Johnson, Helen M.

Canadian Wild Flowers: Selections from the Writings of Miss Helen M. Johnson of Magog, P.Q., Canada, with a Sketch of Her Life, by Rev. J.M. Orrock, Boston, 1884, 1889. 200 pp.

Jones, J.E., comp.

Some Familiar Wild Flowers. National Boys' Work Board, Toronto, 1930. 100 pp.

Lafitau, Joseph François

Mémoire présenté à Son Altesse Royale Mgr. le duc d'Orléans, régent de France: concernant la précieuse plante du gin-seng de Tartarie découverte en Amérique. Chez J. Mongé, Paris, 1718. 88 pp., illus. New ed., with biographical forward by M. Hospice Verreau, Daniel Sénécal, Montreal, 1858. 42 pp., illus.

# Lanessan, J.-L. de

Les plantes utiles des Colonies françaises. Imprimerie nationale, Paris, 1886. 990 pp.

Lawson, George

Notice of New and Rare Plants. Halifax, N.S., ca. 1883. Reprinted from the Proceedings of the Institute of Natural Science, Vol. 4, Part 1, Dec. 1882, 8 pp.

--- Remarks on the Flora of the Northern Shores of America: With Tabulated Observations Made by Mr. F.F. Wales, Hudson Strait, During 1886. ca. 1887. Reprinted from the Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, Section IV, 1887. 9 pp.

---. The School Fern-Flora of Canada: Comprising Descriptions of All Ferns Known to Inhabit the Dominion, Together with an Account of Their Geographical Range or Prevalence in the Several Provinces, and Special Localities for the Rarer Species. A. & W. Mackinlay, Halifax, N.S., 1889. 251 pp.

---. The Fern Flora of Canada: Descriptions of All the Native Ferns of the Dominion with Localities Where They Grow. A. & W. Mac-

Kinlay, Halifax, N.S., 1889.

---. Notes for a Flora of Nova Scotia: Part I. ca. 1891. Reprinted from Transactions of the Nova Scotia Institute of Science, Session 1890-91. 27 pp.

---. On the Present State of Botany in Canada.... N.p., n.p., 1898.

## Le Moine, James MacPherson

Our Wild Flowers: Familiar Notes Thereon. Chronicle Steam Press, Québec, 1885. 34 pp.

Louis-Marie, Père, O.C.S.O.

Flore. Manuel de la Province de Québec. Contribution No. 23, Institut agricole d'Oka, La Trappe, Que., 1931. 320 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., 1953. 323 pp., illus. 3rd. ed., Centre de psychologie et de pédagogie, Montreal, 1959. 321 pp., illus.

#### McCalla, W.C.

Wild Flowers of Western Canada. Musson Book, Toronto, 1920. 132 pp., illus.

Mackenzie, Roderick

Miramichi Wild Flowers. J. Lovell, Montreal, 1887. 82 pp.

## Macoun, John

Report on the Botany of British Columbia.

N.p., n.p., 1875. 82 pp.

---. Synopsis of the Flora of the Valley of the St. Lawrence and Great Lakes: With Description of the Rarer Plants. N.p., Toronto, 1877. 20 pp.

---. Report on the Flora and Agricultural Character of the Country Traversed from Vancouver Island to Carlton on the Saskatchewan. Burland-Desbarats, Montreal, 1877. Illus.

---. Catalogue of Canadian Plants, Parts 1-7, Dawson, Montreal, 1883-1888; W.F. Brown, 1890-92; King's Printer, Ottawa, 1902.

---. List of Plants known to occur on the East Coast and in the Interior of Labrador. Geological Survey of Canada, Ottawa, 1896.

---. List of Plants Collected by Mr. J.B. Tyrrell in the Klondike Region in 1899. Ottawa?, ca. 1900.

# Macoun, John, and John Gibson

The Plants of the Eastern Coast of Lake Huron and Their Distribution Through Northern and Western Portions of British North America. N.p., Toronto, 1876?. 23 pp.

---. The Botany of the Eastern Coast of Lake Huron. N.p., Toronto, 1876. 14 pp.

# Macoun, William T.

List of Herbaceous Perennials Tested in the Arboretum and Botanic Garden, Central Experimental Farm, Ottawa, Canada: With Descriptions of Flowers, and Other Notes. Bulletin No. 5, Second Series, Government Printing Bureau, Ottawa, 1908. 113 pp.

Marie-Victorin, F.É.C.

La flore du Témiscouata: mémoire sur une nouvelle exploration botanique de ce comté de la province de Québec. Impr. Laflamme, Québec, 1916. 127 pp., illus.

---. Flore laurentienne. Imprimerie de la Salle, Montreal, 1935. 917 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., Presses de l'universite de Montréal, Montreal, 1964. 925 pp., illus.

---. Un manuscit botanique prélinnéen: l'histoire des plantes du Canada. N.p., Montreal, 1936. 15 pp.

--- Carnet de l'herborisant: index numéroté des plantes de la Flore laurentienne. N.p., Québec, 1939. 200 pp.

# Marie-Victorin, Frère, and Frère Rolland-Germain, F.É.C.

Flore de l'Anticosti-Minganie. Presses de l'Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1969. 527 pp., illus.

# Massicotte, Édouard-Zotique

Cent fleurs de moin herbier: études sur le monde végétal à la portée de tous: suivies d'un calendrier de la flore de la province de Québec. Librairie Beauchemin, Montreal, 1906. 222 pp., illus. New ed., 1912. 140 pp., illus. New ed., revised and corrected, Librairie Beauchemin, Montreal, 1955. 187 pp., illus. ---. Monographies de plantes canadiennes:

---. Monographies de plantes canadiennes: suivies de croquis champêtres et d'un calendrier de la flore de la province de Québec. C.O. Beauchemin, Montreal, 1899. 148 pp., illus.

# Miller, Maria Morris

Wild Flowers of Nova Scotia ... Executed from Nature of the Full Size of the Flowers, Accompanied by Information on the History, Properties, Accompanied by the Subjects. Titus Smith, ed. (1st series), 1840; Rev. Alexander Forrester, ed. (2nd series), 1853; Professor George Lawson, ed., (3rd series) 1866. N.p., Halifax and London.

## Morris, Frank

Our Wild Flowers, a Plea for Protection, Publication No. 3, Federation of Ontario Naturalists, Toronto, 1939. 38 pp., illus.

# Morton, Boyd Rutherford

Native Trees of Canada. With Notes on Nomenclature and Utilization by R.G. Lewis, 1st ed. (Multiple subsequent editions). Dept. of the Interior, Ottawa, 1917. 233 pp., illus.

#### Moven, l'abbé L.

Cours élémentaire de botanique et flore du Canada, à l'usage des maisons d'éducation. Geo. E. Desbarats, Montreal, 1871. 62 pp.

## Muldrew, W.H.

Sylvan Ontario: A Guide to Our Native Trees and Shrubs. Briggs, Toronto, 1901. 67 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., 1905. 69 pp., illus.

#### Munro, David Ransom

A Description of the Forest and Ornamental Trees of New Brunswick. Chubb, Saint John, N.B., 1862. 24 pp.

#### Newhall, C.S.

The Trees of Northeastern America: The Shrubs of Northeastern America. 2 vols. Putnam, New York, 1911.

Ontario. Department of Education. Herbarium. Flora of Ontario. Warwick Bros. and Rutter, Toronto, n.d. 59 pp.

# Parsons, Frances Theodora (Mrs. William Starr

According to Season, Talks About the Flowers in Order of Their Appearance in the Woods and Fields. C. Scribner's Sons, New York, 1894. 159 pp.; 1902, 197 pp.; George N. Morang, Toronto, 1902, 197 pp.; C. Scribner's Sons, 1924, 197 pp.

# Penhallow, David Pearce

The Botany of Montreal. N.p., Montreal, 1891. 121 pp.

---. Outlines of Classification of Plants. E.M. Renouf, Montreal, 1895. 15 pp.

---. A Manual of the More Common Herbaceous Plants of Quebec and Ontario. Copp, Clark, Toronto, 1899, 209 pp.

--- Classification of Plants with Reference to the Life History. W. Drysdale, Montreal, 1899.

#### Provancher, Léon l'abbé

Flore canadienne: ou déscription de toutes les plantes des forêts, champs, jardins et eau du Canada.... Joseph Darveau, imprimeur-éditeur, Québec, 1862. 842 pp., illus.

#### Rockley, Alicia Cecil, Baroness

Wild Flowers of the Great Dominions of the British Empire. Macmillan, London, 1935. 380 pp., illus.

---. Some Canadian Wild Flowers; Being the First Part of Wild Flowers of the Great Dominions. Macmillan, Toronto, 1937. 107 pp., illus.

# Rogers, Julia Ellen

Canadian Trees Worth Knowing. Musson Book, Toronto, 1917. 291 pp., illus.

## Ross, Alexander Milton

Ferns and Wildflowers Collected in the Province of Ontario, Canada. N.p., Toronto, 1873.

The Flora of Canada, Collected by A.M. Ross. Rowsell & Hutchinson, Toronto, 1875.

---. The Forest Trees of Canada. N.p., Toronto, 1875. 6 pp.

---. Memorial of Fifty Years in the Life of Alexnader Milton Ross, 1832-1882. N.p., Montreal?, ca. 1882. 23 pp.

### Rouleau, Ernest

Bibliographie des travaux concernant la flore canadienne: parus dans "Rhodora," de 1899 à 1943 inclusivement, précédée d'un index alphabétique nouveau proposé dans cette revue. Institut botanique, Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1944. 367 pp.

---. La florule de l'île Sainte-Hélène. Institut botanique, Université de Montréal, Montreal, 1945. 65 pp., illus.

---. Supplément à la Flore laurentienne comprenant des additions et des corrections ainsi que la mise à jour de la nomenclature. Frères des écoles chrétiennes, Montreal, 1947. 63 pp.

# Saunders, William, and W.T. Macoun

Catalogue of the Trees and Shrubs in the Arboretum and Botanic Garden at the Central Experimental Farm, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. Bulletin No. 2, Second Series, Government Printing Bureau, Ottawa, 1899. 88 pp., illus. ---. List of Plants Collected Chiefly in the Immediate Neighbourhood of London, C.W. Lovell and Gibson, Toronto, 1863. 20 pp.

#### Skinner, Helen

"Flowers from the Wild." Canada Century Home, No. 16 (Feb.-March 1986), pp. 8-11. Port Hope, Ont.

# Spotten, Cosens, and Ivey Spotten

Wild Plants of Canada. Gage, Toronto, 1937.

#### Spotton, Henry Byron

The Commonly Occuring Wild Plants of Canada: A Flora for the Use of Beginners. W.J. Gage, Toronto, 1884. 176 pp. 2nd. ed., 1884. 176 pp., illus. Rev. ed., W.J. Gage, Toronto, ca. 1887. 308 pp.

#### 22 FLORAS

# Stewart, Rev. Schuyler

The Canadian Herbal, or Botanic Family Physician, Comprising a Variety of the Indian Remedies, and Medicinal Plants of This Country, and Adapted to Various Forms of Disease. Canada Christian Advocate Office, Hamilton, 1851.

#### Traill, Catherine Parr

Canadian Wild Flowers. Painted and lithographed by Agnes Fitzgibbon, with botanical descriptions by Catherine Parr Traill. J. Lovell, Montreal, 1868. 86 pp., illus. New ed., 1869. 88 pp., illus. Reprinted, Coles Publishing Co., Toronto, 1972. 86 pp., illus.

# Vroom, James

A List of Flowering Plants and Ferns Found in Charlotte Country, New Brunswick. Courier Steam Printing House, St. Stephen, N.B., 1887. 12 pp.

# Vroom, James, and others

List of Charlotte County Plants. St. Stephen, N.B., 1887. 8 pp.

## Waghorne, Arthur Charles

The Flora of Newfoundland, Labrador and St. Pierre et Miquelon, Part III. ca. 1898. Reprinted from the Transactions of the Nova Scotia Institute of Science, 1897-98.

# White, J.H.

The Forest Trees of Ontario. King's Printer, Toronto, 1925. 80 pp., illus.

# Wild Flowers of Canada by Special Artists and Botanists

Montreal Star, Montreal, 1893?, 1894, 1895. 350 pp., illus.

# NATURALISTS/NATURAL HISTORY

#### Adams, A. Leith

Field and Forest Rambles, With Notes and Observations on the Natural History of Eastern Canada. Henry S. King, London, 1873. 333 pp., illus.

# Bailey, Loring Woart

Elementary Natural History ... Minerals, Plants and Animals with Special Reference to Those of New Brunswick. MCMillan, Saint John, N.B., 1887. 94 pp.

# Berger, Carl

Science, God, and Nature in Victorian Canada. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1983. 92 pp.

## Black, Martha Louise

My Seventy Years (as told to Eizabeth Bailey Price). Thomas Nelson and Son, London, 1938. 317 pp., illus.

---. My Ninety Years. Edited and updated by Flo Whyard. Northern History Library, Alaska Northwest Publishing Co., Anchorage, 1976, 1986. 166 pp., illus.

## Brown, Annora

Old Man's Garden. Dent, Toronto, 1954. 268 pp., illus. 2nd ed., Gray's Publishing, Sidney, B.C., 1970. 268 pp., illus.

#### De Sola, Abraham

The Study of Natural Science.... J. Lovell, Montreal, 1870. 10 pp.

#### Drolet, Antonio

"Quelques remèdes indigènes dans la correspondance de Mère de Saint-Hélène, 1718-1758." Cahier d'Histoire No. 22. La Societé Historique de Québec, Québec, 1970.

# Duchesne, Raymond

"La bibliothèque scientifique de l'abbé Léon Provancher." Revue d'histoire de l'Amérique française, Vol. 34, No. 4 (March 1981), pp. 535-56. Montreal.

#### Eaton, Sara

Lady of the Backwoods: A Biography of Catherine Parr Traill. McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1969. 175 pp.

# Gosse, Philip Henry

The Canadian Naturalist, A Series of Conversations on the Natural History of Lower Canada. Van Voorst, London, 1840. 372 pp., illus. Coles Publishing Co., Toronto, 1971. 372 pp., illus.

# Hearne, Samuel

A Journey from Prince of Wales's Fort in Hudson's Bay to the Northern Ocean...in the Years 1769, 1770, 1771 & 1772. A Strahan and T. Cadell, London, 1795. 458 pp., illus. F. Byrne and J. Rice, Dublin, 1796. 459 pp., illus. Joseph & James Crukshank, Philadelphia, 1802. New edition, Champlain Society, Toronto, 1911. 437 pp., illus. Macmillan, Toronto, 1958. 301 pp., illus. Hurtig, Edmonton, 1958-1975. 301 pp. N. Israel, Amsterdam; Da Capo Press, New York; Greenwood Press, New York, 1968. 464 pp. Tuttle, Rutland, Vt., 1971. 458 pp., illus.

de Galles dans la baie d'Hudson à l'océan nord...dans les années 1769, 1770, 1771 et 1772. 2 vols. Impr. de Patris, Paris, 1798, 1799.

## Huard, Victor-Alphonse, Chanoine

La vie et l'oeuvre de l'abbé Provancher. Editions Spes, Paris, 1926. 509 pp., illus.

## Jameson, Anna B.

Winter Studies and Summer Rambles in Canada. 3 vols. Saunders and Otley, London, 1838; 2 vols. Wiley and Putnam, New York, 1839, McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1923, 443 pp., illus. T. Nelson, Toronto, 1943. 276 pp.; MCClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1965, 172 pp.

## Judd, William W.

Early Naturalists and Natural History Societies of London, Ontario. Phelps, London, 1979. 215 pp., illus.

# Lachlan, Robert

A Retrospective Glance at the Progessive State of the Natural History Society of Montreal: With a View to Ascertaining How Far It Has Advanced the Important Objects Contemplated by its Founders: Being a Lecture Deliv-

ered Before the Natural History Society on the 31st March 1852 and Published by Desire of the Society. J.C. Becket, Montreal, 1852. 24 PP.

## Lord, John K.

The Naturalist in Vancouver Island and British Columbia. 2 vols. R. Bentley, London, 1866.

# MacCallum, Elizabeth

"Catherine Parr Traill: A Nineteenth-century Ontario Naturalist." The Beaver, Vol. 306, No. 2 (Autumn 1975), pp. 39-45, illus. Toronto.

### Macoun, John

Autobiography of John Macoun, M.A., Canadian Explorer and Naturalist, 1831-1920. A memorial volume published by The Ottawa Field Naturalists' Club, Ottawa, 1922. 305 pp. 2nd ed., Ottawa Field Naturalists' Club, Ottawa, 1979. 361 pp., illus.

# Marie-Victorin, Frère, F.É.C.

Dix ans après; la première décade de la Société canadienne d'histoire naturelle. Montreal, 1934.

--- La tâche des naturalistes canadiensfrançais. N.p., Montreal, 1935. 22 pp.

# Morris, Frank

Our Wild Flowers; A Plea for Protection. Publication No. 3, Federation of Ontario Naturalists, Toronto, 1939. 38 pp., illus.

### Murray, Andrew

Contributions to the Natural History of the Hudson's Bay Company's Territories. Part 2 and Part 3, Neill, Edinburgh, 1859. 24 pp.

# Natural History Society of Montreal

Constitution and By-laws of the Natural History Society of Montreal, with Directions for Preserving and Forwarding Objects of Natural History, 1828. Montreal Gazette Office, Montreal, 1828. 25 pp.

---. Act of Incorporation and Bye-laws of the Natural History Society of Montreal.... A.H. Armour, Montreal, 1833. 32 pp.

of the Council of the Natural History Society for 1831-32, 1832-33, and 1833-34. Montreal Gazette Office, Montreal, 1834. 19 pp.

---. Catalogue of the Library and Museum of the Natural History Society of Montreal. Lovell & Gibson, Montreal, 1846. 40 pp.

---. Twenty-fifth Annual Report of the Natural Society of Montreal.... Moore, Owler & Stevenson, Montreal, 1853. 8 pp.

---. Constitution and By-laws of the Natural History Society of Montreal, With the Amending Act...Also a List of the Officers, Corresponding and Honorary, Life and Ordinary Members of the Society, May, 1859. J. Lovell, Montreal, 1859. 31 pp.

---. Constitution and by-laws of the Natural History Society of Montreal... Mitchell & Wilson, Montreal, 1886. 24 pp.

---. The Natural History Society of Montreal. Morton, Phillips, Montreal, 189?. 8 pp.

# Natural History Society of New Brunswick

The Constitution and By-laws. Sun, Saint John, N.B., 1882. 8 pp.

## Ottawa Natural History Society

Act of Incorporation, By-laws, and List of Members, of the Ottawa Natural History Society: Established, 1864. Hunter, Rose, Ottawa, 1866. 16 pp.

#### Pomeroy, Elsie M.

William Saunders and his Five Sons: The Story of the Marquis Wheat Family. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1956. 192 pp.

## Pringle, James S.

"Clement Charles Todd (d. 1828), An Early Naturalist and Botanical Collector in Upper Canada." Canadian Horticultural History, Vol. 1, No. 1 (1985), pp. 14-27. Hamilton, Ont.

#### Provancher, Léon, l'abbé

Société Provancher d'histoire naturelle du Canada. Société Provancher d'histoire naturelle du Canada, Québec, n.d. 39 pp.

## Punch, Terrence M.

"Maple Sugar and Cabbages: The 'Philosophy' of the 'Dutch Village Philosopher'." Nova Scotia Historical Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 1 (March 1978), pp. 19-38. Halifax, N.S.

#### Ross, Alexander Milton

Collected Writings on Canadian natural history of Chevalier A.M. Ross. Rowsell and Hutchinson, Toronto, 1875. Illus.

# Rousseau, Jacques

Des naturalistes à la découverte du Canada au XIXe siècle. Les Éditions des Dix, Montreal, 1963. 208 pp.

---- Provancher et la publication des éléments de botanique de Brunet. No. 29, Contributions, Institut botanique, Université de Montréal, Montreal 1937, pp. 5-11.

---. Un quart de siècle à la Société canadienne d'histoire naturelle. N.p., Montreal, 1949. 49 pp.

# Saunders, R.M.

"The First Introduction of European Plants and Animals into Canada." <u>Canadian Historical Review</u>, Vol. 16, No. 4 (Dec. 1935), pp. 388-406. Toronto.

# Smith, Harlan I.

The Natural History Museums of British Columbia. New York?, ca. 1898, 4 pp. Reprinted from Science, n.s. Vol. 8, No. 210, pp. 219, 620, (Nov. 4, 1898).

# Traill, Catherine Parr

Narratives of nature, and history book for young naturalists. Lacey, London, 1840-49. 276 pp.

---. Pearls and Pebbles; or, Notes of an Old Naturalist. William Briggs, Toronto; S. Low, Marston, London; C.W. Coates, Montreal; S.F. Huestis, Halifax, 1894. 241 pp., illus.

---. Studies of Plant Life in Canada; or, Gleanings from Forest, Lake and Plain. A.S. Woodburn, Ottawa, 1885. 288 pp., illus. New and rev. ed., W. Briggs, Toronto, 1906. 227 pp., illus.

# Waugh, Frederick Wilkerson

Iroquis sic foods and food preparation. Anthropological Series No. 12, Memoir 86, Canada Department of Mines, Geological Survey, Ottawa, 1916. Facsimile ed., Government Printing Bureau, Ottawa, 1973. 235 pp., illus.

#### TRAVEL AND IMMIGRANT LITERATURE

Abbott, Joseph

Memoranda of a Settler in Lower Canada, or, The Emigrant to North America: Being a Compendium of Useful Practical Hints to Emigrants Selected from an Unpublished Narrative of the Adventures of a Large Family From the North of England, Which Emigrated to America in 1818 and Settled in Various Parts of the Canadas and the Western States, As Farmers, etc., Together With an Account of Every Day's Doings Upon a Farm for a Year, by an Immigrant Farmer, of Twenty Years Experience. Lovell and Gibson, Montreal, 1842. 80 pp. Rev. and enl., W. Blackwood, Edinburgh and London, 1844. 120 pp.

Aylmer, Lady Louisa Ann Call

"Recollections of Canada, 1831," in the Rapport de l'Archiviste de la Province de Québec, 1934-35. Imprimeur du Roi, Québec, 1934-35.

# Bell, William

Hints to Emigrants: In a Series of Letters from Upper Canada. Waugh and Innes, Edinburgh, 1824. 236 pp.

Biggar, Henry, ed.

Works of Samuel de Champlain. The Champlain Society, Toronto, 1922. 6 vols. Vol. 1, 469 pp., illus.

## Bonnycastle, Sir Richard Henry

The Canadas in 1841. 2 vols. H. Colburn, London, 1841-42, illus.

---. Newfoundland in 1842: A Sequel to "The Canadas in 1841." 2 vols. Henry Colburn, Publisher, London, 1842.

#### Boucher, Pierre

Histoire véritable et naturelle des moeurs et productions du pays de la Nouvelle France, vulgairement dite le Canada. Chez Florentin Lambert, Paris, 1664. 168 pp. 2nd. ed., Canadian Government Printing Bureau, Québec, 1849. 73 pp. 3rd. ed., revised by G. Coffin. E. Bastien, Montreal, 1882. 164 pp. ----. Canada in the 17th Century. E.L. Montizambert, trans. Printed by G.W. Desbarats, Montreal, 1881, 1883. 84 pp. New ed., M.D. McBroom, Murfreesboro, Tenn., 1985. 86 pp., illus.

---. Histoire véritable et naturelle des moeurs et productions du pays de la Nouvelle-France. Jacques Rousseau, commentator. Société Historique de Boucherville, Boucherville, Que., 1964. 415 pp., illus.

# Bouchette, Joseph

Descriptions topographiques du Bas-Canada, avec des remarques sur le Haut-Canada et sur les relations des deux provinces avec les Etats-Unis de l'Amérique. F.W. Faden, London, 1815. 664 pp.; Canada East Reprints, Saint Lambert Que., 1973; 640 pp. Éditions Elysé, Montreal, 1978. 664 pp., illus.

---. The British Dominions in North America, or, a Topographical and Statistical Description of the Provinces of Lower and Upper Canada, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, the islands of Newfoundland, Prince Edward, and Cape Breton... 3 vols. Longman, Rees, Orme, Brown, and Green, London, 1831, illus.; 2 vols. 1832, illus.

#### Brown, William

America: a Four Year Residence in the United States and Canada; Giving a Full and Fair Description of the Country, as It Really Is, with Manners, Customs and Character of the Inhabitants; Anecdotes of Persons and Institutions, Prices of Land and Produce, State of Agriculture and Manufactures. Printed for the author by Kemplay and Bolland, Leeds, 1849. 108 pp.

#### Campbell, Patrick

Travels in the Interior Inhabited Parts of North America in the Years 1791 and 1792....

J. Guthrie, Edinburgh, 1793. 387 pp., illus.;
The Champlain Society, Toronto, 1937. 326 pp., illus.

---. Travels in North America. H.H. Langton, ed. Reprint, facsimile edition of 1937 issue, Greenwood Press, New York, 1968. 326 pp., illus.

#### Canada. Department of Agriculture.

A Handbook of Information for the Intending Immigrant. Ottawa, 1886.

#### Currie, David

The Letters of Rusticus: Investigations in Manitoba and the North-West, for the Benefit of Intending Emigrants: A Series of Letters from the Special Commissioner of the 'Montreal Witness'. J. Dougall, Montreal, 1880. 82 pp., illus.

Ells, Margaret

A Calendar of the White Collection of Manuscripts in the Public Archives of Nova Scotia. Bulletin No. 5, Public Archives of Nova Scotia, Halifax, 1940. 130 pp.

# Herring, Armine Styleman

Letters from Abroad, With Hints to Emigrants Proceeding to the New Dominion of Canada. S.W. Partridge, London, 1871. 47 pp.

# Hints to Emigrants, Respecting North America.

T. Cary, Québec, 1831. 39 pp.

## Howison, John

Sketches of Upper Canada. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh, 1821; Coles Publishing, Toronto, 1970. 339 pp.

Langton, Anne

A Gentlewoman in Upper Canada. The Journals of Anne Langton. H.H. Langton, ed. Clarke Irwin & Co., Toronto, 1950. 249 pp., illus.

Langton, John

Early Days in Upper Canada, letters of John Langton... Macmillan, Toronto, 1926. 310 pp., illus.

## Lawson, John

Letters on Prince Edward Island. Jas. Doug. Hazzard, Queen's Printer, Charlottetown, P.E.I., 1851.

#### Lescarbot, Marc

Histoire de la Nouvelle France, contenant les navigations, découvertes, et habitations faites par les Francois és Indes Occidentales et Nouvelle France... 4 vols. Jean Milot, Paris, 1609.

--- Nova Francia; or, The Description of that Part of New France, Which is One Continent with Virginia... P.E. Londini, trans. N.p., 1609. 2nd. ed., J. Milot, Paris, 1611, 1612, 877

pp. 3rd. ed., Chez Adrian Perier, Paris, 1617, 1618. 970 pp.

---. A Collection of Voyages & Travels... Thomas Osborne, London, 1745. Awnsham Churchill, London, 1747. New ed., 3 vols., Librairie Tross, Paris, 1866.

---. Nova Francia, a Description of Acadia, 1606... G. Routledge, London, 1928. 346 pp. Harper & Bros., New York & London, 1928.

---. History of New France. 3 vols. W.L. Grant, trans. Reprint: Champlain Society, Toronto, 1907-14. 3 vols. W.L. Grant, trans. Greenwood Press, New York, 1968.

# Lewellin, John L.

Prince Edward Island, A Brief But Faithful Account of This Fine Colony: Shewing Some of Its Advantages as a Place of Settlement: Addressed to Those British Farmers, and Others, Who Are Determined to Emigrate and Try Their Fortune in a New Country: With Directions How to Proceed, What to Provide, and What Steps to Take, On Arriving in the Colony. J.D. Hazzard, Charlottetown, P.E.I., 1832. New ed., W.M. Knight, London, 1833. 35 pp.

# Light, Beth, and Alison Prentice, eds.

Pioneers and Gentlewomen of British North America, 1713-1867. New Hogtown Press, Toronto, 1980, 245 pp., illus.

# Marie-Victorin, Frère, F.É.C.

Croquis laurentiens. Casterman, Paris, 1920. 238 pp; illus. by Édouard-Z. Massicotte, preface by Ernest Bilodeau, Frères des écoles chrétiennes, Montreal, 1920. 304 pp., illus.

# Miller, Audrey Sanders, ed.

The Journals of Mary O'Brien, 1828-1838. Macmillan, Toronto, 1968. 314 pp., illus., maps.

# Moodie, Susanna

Roughing it in the Bush or Life in Canada. G.P. Putnam & Co., New York; Richard Bentley, London, 1852. New ed., R. Bentley, London, 1857. New and rev. ed., Maclear, Toronto, 1871. 538 pp., illus.; Hunter, Rose, Toronto, 1871. 538 pp., illus. 2 vols., N.p., New York, 1876. Dodge, New York, 1913? 568 pp. illus.; T. Nelson, Toronto, London, 1938. 227 pp.; McClelland, Toronto, 1923. 506 pp., illus.; McClelland and Stewart, Toron-

to, 1962. 240 pp.; Literature House, Upper Saddle River, N.J., 1970. 224 pp., illus.; McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1970. 238 pp.; 3rd. ed., Coles Publishing Co., Toronto, 1974, 1980. 568 pp.

---. Life in the Clearings Versus the Bush. Richard Bentley, London, 1853. 384 pp.; De Witt, New York, 1854; Lovell, New York, 1887. 300 pp.; De Witt & Davenport, New York, 1892?; Macmillan, Toronto, 1959, 1976. 298 pp., illus.

# Perkins, Simeon

The Diary of Simeon Perkins 1766-1780, Harold A. Innis, ed. Champlain Society, Toronto, 1948.

---. The Diary of Simeon Perkins 1780-1789, D.C. Harvey, ed. Champlain Society, Toronto, 1958. 531 pp.

---. The Diary of Simeon Perkins 1790-1796, Charles Bruce Fergusson, ed. Champlain Society, Toronto, 1961. 477 pp.

---. The Diary of Simeon Perkins 1797-1803, Charles Bruce Fergusson, ed. Champlain Society, Toronto, 1967. 550 pp.

---. The Diary of Simeon Perkins. Greenwood Press, New York, 1969.

---. The Diary of Simeon Perkins, 1804-1812. Charles Bruce Fergusson, ed. Champlain Society, Toronto, 1978. 520 pp.

## Picken, Andrew

The Canadas as They at Present Commend Themselves to the Enterprise of Emigrants, Colonnists, and Capitalists.... E. Wilson, London, 1832, 1836. 349 pp.

# Preston, T.R.

Three Years' Residence in Canada from 1837 to 1839.... 2 vols. R. Bentley, London, 1840.

#### Radcliff, Rev. Thomas, ed.

Authentic Letters from Upper Canada. Including an Account of Canadian Field Sports by Thomas Wm. Magrath. Illustrated by Samuel Lover and introduced by James Hohn Talman. W. Curry, Dublin, 1833. Reprint, Macmillan, Toronto, 1953. 207 pp., illus.

# Samson, Joseph

Travels in Lower Canada, with the Author's Recollections of the Soil, and Aspect; the Morals, Habits, and Religious Institutions of That Country. Sir Richard Phillips and Co., London, 1820. 116 pp., illus.; Coles Publishing Co., Toronto, 1970. 116 pp., illus.

# Shirreff, Patrick

A Tour through North America: Together with a Comprehensive View of the Canadas and the United States as Adapted for Agricultural Emigration. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh, 1835; Simpkin, Marshall, London, 1835. 473 pp. B. Bloom, New York, 1971. 473 pp.

#### Stewart, Frances Browne

Our Forest Home: Being Extracts From the Correspondence of the Late Frances Stewart. Compiled and edited by her daughter, E.S. Dunlop, Presbyterian Print, Toronto, 1889. 210 pp.

# Strickland, Samuel

Twenty-Seven Years in Canada West; or, The Experience of an Early Settler. 2 vols. Agnes Strickland, ed. R. Bentley, London, 1853. M.G. Hurtig, Edmonton, 1970.

## Talbot, Frederick Arthur Ambrose

The New Garden of Canada, by Pack-Horse and Canoe Through Undeveloped New British Columbia. Cassell and Co., London, 1912. 308 pp.

#### Thompson, Samuel

Reminiscences of a Canadian Pioneer for the Last 50 Years: an autobiography. Hunter, Rose, Toronto, 1884. 392 pp. New ed., MCClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1968. 286 pp.

## Thwaites, Reuben Gold, ed.

The Jesuit Relations and Allied Documents: travels and explorations of the Jesuit Missionaries in New France, 1610-1791; the original French, Latin and Italian texts, with English Translations and Notes; Illustrated by Portraits, Maps and Facsimiles. 73 vols. Burrows Bros., Cleveland, 1896-1901.

### Traill, Catherine Parr

The Backwoods of Canada. Being Letters from the Wife of an Emigrant Officer.... C. Knight, London, 1836. 351 pp., illus. New ed., Charles Knight, London, 1846. 243 pp., illus.; M.A. Nattali, London, 1846, 1849. 351 pp., illus. Reprint, McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1929. 377 pp., illus.; McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1966; Coles Publishing Co., Toronto, 1971. 351 pp., illus.

Tricoche, George Nestler

Au Maine et au Nouveau-Brunswick: un coin oublié de la Nouvelle-France. Librairie P. Roger, Paris, 1925. 269 pp.
---. Terre-Neuve et alentours: Iles de la Madeleine, Labrador, Saint-Pierre-et-Mique-

lon. Editions P. Roger, Paris, 19--?. 295 pp.
---. Rambles Through the Maritime Provinces of Canada: A Neglected Part of the British Empire. A.H. Stockwell, London, 1931? 191

# Tucker, Elisabeth S., comp.

Leaves from Juliana Horatio Ewing's "Canada Home." Roberts Brothers, Boston, 1896. 145 pp., illus.

### Weld. Isaac

Travels Through the States of North America and the Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada During the Years 1795, 1796, 1797. 2 vols. John Stockdale, London, 1800. 4th. ed., John Stockdale, London, 1800. 4th. ed., John Stockdale, London, 1807. Reprint: 2 vols., Johnson Reprint Corp., New York, 1968, illus. Reprint: 4th. ed., 2 vols., A.M. Kelly, New York, 1970. ---. Voyage au Canada, dans les années 1795, 1796, et 1797. 3 vols. Impr. de Munier, Paris, 1802.

#### GENERAL HORTICULTURE

## Archibald, John

"Our Horticultural Heritage." Agricultural History of Ontario Seminar, Proceedings, T.A. Crowley, ed. Office of Continuing Education, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ont., 1976.

# Athanase, Rév. Père

Le potager canadien; cours d'horticulture donné à l'Institut agricole d'Oka, La Trappe, P.Q. Institut agricole d'Oka, La Trappe, Que., 1915.

#### Bailey, Liberty Hyde

Annals of Horticulture in North America for the Year 1889. Rural Publishing Co., New York, 1890. 247 pp., illus. Orange Judd Co., New York, 1893.

## Baltet, Charles

L'horticulture dans les cinq parties du monde. Société nationale d'horticulture de france, Paris, 1895. 776 pp.

#### Brodrick, F.W.

Trees, Flowers and Fruits for Manitoba. Extension Bulletin No. 29, Manitoba Farmer's Library, Manitoba Department of Agriculture and Immigration, Winnipeg, 1918. 19 pp., illus.

## Chapais, Jean Charles

Le jour de la fête des arbres: guelgues conseils aux cultivateurs sur la plantation des arbes forestiers et d'ornement. E. Senécal, Montreal, 1884. 9 pp. N.p., Québec, 1885. 35 pp. ---. Arbor Day: A Few Advices to Farmers on the Planting of Forest and Ornamental Trees. E. Senécal, Montreal, 1884. 8 pp. Québec, 1885. 33 pp.

The Canadian Forester's Illustrated Guide. E. Senécal, Montreal, 1885. 199 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., J.A. Langlais, Québec, 1891. 199 pp.

---. Guide illustrée du sylviculteur canadien. E. Senécal, Montreal, 1883. 193 pp. 2nd. ed., 1890. 193 pp., illus. 3rd. ed., J.A. Langlais, Québec, 1891. 205 pp.

---. La forêt et le cultivateur: conférence donnée devant la Société pomologique de la province de Québec au Collège Macdonald, le 10 décembre 1909. Québec. 1910. 14 pp.

## Cobbett, William

The Woodlands, or, A Treatise on the Preparing of Ground for Planting: On the Planting, on the Cultivating, on the Pruning, and on the Cutting Down of Forest Trees and Underwoods: Describing the Unusual Growth and Size and the Uses of Each Sort of Tree, the Seed of Each, the Season and Manner of Collecting the Seed, the Manner of Preserving and of Sowing It, and Also the Manner of Managing the Young Plants Until Fit to Plant Out: The Trees Being Arranged in Alphabetical Order, and the List of Them, Including Those of America as Well as Those of England, and the English, French, and Latin Name Being Prefixed to the Directions Relative to Each Tree Respectively. W. Cobbett, London, 1825. 342 pp.

#### Collins, Bob

"Canada's Lady of the Lilies," Isabella Preston. Canadian Homes and Gardens, Vol. 30, No. 7 (July 1953), pp. 27, 47-48. Toronto.

## Dick, Lyle

"A History of Period Farm Maintenance Techniques at the Motherwell Homestead, 1900-1912." Microfiche Report Series 131, Environment Canada - Parks, Ottawa, 1984. 326 pp., illus.

#### Lang, George

Horticulture in Saskatchewan. Exhibition Circular No. 76, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1916.

## Laroque, G., Dr.

Manuel d'horticulture practique et d'arboriculture fruitière. Mercier & Cie, Lévis, Que., 1880. 168 pp., illus. 2nd ed., rev., corrected, and augmented, J. A. Langlais, Québec, 1883. 252 pp., illus.

#### LaRue, Hubert

Petit manuel d'agriculture, d'horticulture, et d'arboriculture. C. Darveau, Québec. 1878, 1879. 108 pp. 6th. ed., 1880. 108 pp. N.S. Hardy, Quebec, 1881. 108 pp. 11th. ed., Cadieux and Derome, Montreal, 1886. 108 pp. 16th. ed., C.O. Beauchemin, Montreal, 1890. 108 pp.

---. Manual of Agriculture, Horticulture, and Arboriculture. C. Darveau, Québec, 1879. 108 pp.

Macdonald College

Select List of Fruits, Vegetables, Trees, Shrubs, and Flowers Recommended by the Horticultural Department, Macdonald College, Quebec. Circular 5, Macdonald College, Québec, 1917. 4 pp.

Macoun, William T.

"Progress of Horticulture In and About Toronto, During the Last Quarter of a Century." The Canadian Agriculturist, Vol. 12, No. 4 (1860), pp. 80-81. Toronto.

---. "Fifty Years of Canadian Horticulture." Family Herald and Weekly Star, Vol. 59 (Aug. 21, 1929), pp. 5-6. Montreal.

Ontario. Department of Agriculture.

Elementary Agriculture and Horticulture. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1918, 1922. 200 pp., illus., W. Briggs, Toronto, 1918. 200 pp., illus; United Press, Toronto, 1918, 1928. 199 pp., illus.

Provencher, Jean

Le patrimoine agricole et horticole au Québec: état de la situation et recommandations: rapport. Commission des biens culturels du Québec, Québec, 1984. 94 pp., illus.

Santerre, Alec, pseud.

The Farmer's Vegetable, Fruit and Flower Garden. Revised and enlarged by George Moore, Daily Telegraph, Québec, 1903. 129 pp., illus.

---. Le potager, jardin du cultivateur. Quebec, 1902. 2nd. ed., Imprimerie Darveau, Québec, 1903. 156 pp., illus.

Saunders, William

Horticulture in Canada: Lecture Delivered Before the Massachusetts Horticultural Society, March 13, 1897. Printed for the Society, Boston, 1898. 20 pp.

Skinner, F.L.

Horticultural Horizons; Plant Breeding and Introducing at Dropmore, Manitoba. Manitoba Dept. of Agriculture and Conservation, Winnipeg, n.d. 158 pp., illus.

Skinner, Helen

"Heirloom Gardens." <u>Canada Century Home</u>, No. 8 (Sept.-Oct. 1984), pp. 12-14. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "We Offer This Catalogue...." Canada Century Home, No. 16 (Feb.-March 1986), pp. 4-6. Port Hope, Ont.

Western Canadian Society for Horticulture

Development of Horticulture on the Canadian

Prairies, an Historical Review. N.p., 1956.

184 pp.

# **EXPERIMENTAL FARMS**

Anstey, T.H.

One Hundred Harvests: Research Branch, Agriculture Canada, 1886-1986. Historical Series No. 27, Research Branch, Agriculture Canada, Ottawa, 1986. 432 pp.

# Canada. Department of Agriculture. Experimental Farms.

List of the Publications Issued from the Dominion Experimental Farms from 1887 to 1910 Inclusive. Ottawa, 1910. 13 pp.

---. Fifty Years of Progress on Dominion Experimental Farms, 1886-1936. Ottawa, 1939. 158 pp., illus.

# **Dominion Experimental Farm**

A Guide to the Experimental Farms and Stations. Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1912.

The Dominion Experimental Farm: A System of Experimental Stations Operated by the Federal Government. Catalogue C 11, No. 1480, Ottawa, 1925.

# Dore, William G.

"The Director's Wife Describes 'the Farm' 73 Years Ago." Greenhouse — Garden — Grass, Dept. of Agriculture, Vol. 7, No. 4 (Winter 1968), pp. 1-5. Ottawa.

# Johnstone, Alex

To Serve Agriculture: The Lethbridge Research Station, 1906-1976. Historical Series No. 9, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1977. 59 pp., illus.

# Saunders, William

The experimental farms of the Dominion of Canada. Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1887. 11 pp.

# Spencer, J.B.

A Review of the Work of the Experimental Farms. Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1913.

#### FRUIT AND VEGETABLE GROWING

## Adams, Angus M.

"Of Grapes and Wine." Canadian Collector, Vol. 19, No. 5 (Sept. 1984), pp. 40-5. Toronto.

# Amateur Gardener, pseud.

The Amateur and Market Gardener's Companion: Containing Simple and Complete Directions for the Cultivation of Various Kinds of Garden Vegetables Usually Grown in Nova Scotia and the Dominion of Canada Generally. S.T. Hall, Halifax, N.S., 1874. 98 pp.

### Bates, C.

"Garden Vegetables in Nineteenth Century Recipes." Ontario Museums Association, Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 3 (Autumn 1979), pp. 28-30. Toronto.

# Beadle, Delos White

Canadian Fruit, Flower, and Kitchen Gardener. A Guide in All Matters Relating to the Cultivation of Fruits, Flowers and Vegetables, and Their Value for Cultivation in This Climate. James Campbell & Son, Toronto, 1872. 391 pp., illus.

# Bealby, J.T.

Fruit Ranching in British Columbia. A. and C. Black, London, 1909. 196 pp.; Macmillan, New York, 1909. 196 pp., illus.

--- How to Make an Orchard in British Columbia: A Handbook for Beginners. Adam and Charles Black, London, 1912. 86 pp.

#### Becker, R.

"Nineteenth Century Vegetable Varieties." Ontario Museums Association, Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 3 (Autumn 1979), pp. 11-14. Toronto.

## Buchanan, D.W.

Horticulture in the North; a Guide to Fruit Growing in the Prairie Provinces of Canada .... Published by author, St. Charles, Man., 1907. 72 pp., illus.

## Bunting, Wm. H.

Inquiry Into Fruit Growing Conditions in the Dominion of Canada: Being the Conclusions Reached After a Personal Investigation. Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1912. 84 pp., illus.

## Chapais, Jean Charles

La vigne: sa culture et sa taille. E. Sénécal, Montreal, 1881. 15 pp., illus.

# Chipman, G. Fisher

Fruit Growing in Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Alberta: Containing Descriptions and Hardiness Classification of Fruits Suitable for the Prairie Provinces. The Country Guide, Winnipeg, 1933. 32 pp.

---. Hardy Fruits for Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta, With Suggestions for Breeding Better Fruits. The Country Guide, Winnipeg, 1934, 1935. 32 pp.

# Clark, J.H.

The Cottager's Kitchen, Fruit and Flower Gardens.... Milner and Sowerby, Halifax, 1863. 446 pp., illus.; Milner, London, 1864. 446 pp., illus.

# Craig, John

Fruit Growing in Canada. Ottawa, ca. 1897. 21 pp.

--- Peach Culture in Canada. Second Series Bulletin No. 1, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1911. 45 pp.

# Crawford, Pleasance

"Notes on Old Nursery Catalogues and Vegetable Varieties." <u>Landscape Architectural Review</u>, Vol. 4, No. 2 (June 1983), p. 13. Toronto.

# Creighton, W.O.

Fruit Growing for Profit; Composing a complete history of apple culture, from the time the seeds are planted until the proceeds are pocketed; with chapters on the plum, pear, cherry, strawberry, raspberry, blackberry, currant and gooseberry. Nova Scotia Printing Co., Halifax, 1891. 52 pp.

# de Courtenay, J.M.

The Culture of the Vine and Emigration. 2nd. ed., J. Darveau, Québec, 1863. 53 pp.

---. Canada Vine Grower. How every farmer in Canada may plant a vineyard and make his own wine. Toronto, 1866. 58 pp.

## Dougall, James

The Canadian Fruit-Culturist; or, Letters to an Intending Fruit-Grower, on the Proper Location, Soil, Preparation, Planting, and After-Cultivation of Orchards, Vineyards, and Gardens; With Directions for the Best Mode of Culture of Each Variety of Fruit; And Select Descriptive Lists of the Best Varieties of the Apple, Pear, Plum, Cherry, Grape, Peach, Nectarine, Apricot, Quince, Gooseberry, Currant, Blackberry, and Strawberry, Suitable for Upper and Lower Canada. Third Edition, John Dougall & Son, Publishers, Montreal, 1867. 38 pp.

# Dupuis, Auguste

Arbres fruitiers et d'ornement par le Canada.... N.p., Québec?, 1880. 4 pp.

---. Culture des arbres fruitiers en la province de Québec. Québec, 1906. 21 pp.

---. The Profits of Fruit Culture: Containing Plain and Practical Directions for Planting, Growing and Marketing Fruit, Followed by a List of Hardy Ornamental Trees and Vines for Hme Adornment, Parks and Streets. Morning Chronicle, Québec, 1880. 29 pp.

# Fisher, D.V.

Fruit Growing in the B.C. Interior. Okanagan Historical Society, 42nd Report, 1978, British Columbia.

### Fruit Growers Association of Abbotsford

Fruit List for Province of Quebec. Lovell Printing and Publishing Co., Montreal, 1875. 20 pp.

---. Report of the Fruit Growers' Association of Abbotsford, 1877. 'Witness' Printing House, Montreal, 1878. 9 pp.

--- Report of the Fruit Growers' Association of Abbotsford. 'Witness' Printing House, Montreal, 1879. 10 pp., illus.

# Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of British Columbia

Constitution and By-laws of the Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of British Columbia.... World Print. and Pub. Co., Vancouver, 1889. 10 pp.

--- List of Premiums Offered by the Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of British Columbia... New Advertiser, Vancouver, 1890. 9 pp.

# Fruit Growers' Association of Upper Canada Constitution and By-laws of the Fruit Growers'

Association of Upper Canada. Spectator, Hamilton, Ont., 1859.

# Goett, Bruce

An Historical Survey of Okanagan Apple Varieties. Kelowna Centennial Museum Assoc., Kelowna, B.C., 1985. 45 pp., illus.

## Hall, Alan W., N.M. Barkhouse, and V.L. Rafuse

"Herbs: Searching and Recording Old Remedies." The Occasional, Vol. 4, No. 3 (Fall 1977), pp. 16-17. Halifax.

#### Hatchard, Keith A.

"The History of the Apple Industry in Nova Scotia." Parts 1 - 10, Nova Scotia Historical Quarterly, Vol. 7, No. 1 (1977) to Vol. 9, No. 3 (1979), Windsor, N.S.

---. Apples in the Barrel. Lancelot Press, Hantsport, N.S., 1980. 85 pp.

# Honoré, Rév. Père

La culture du pommier dans la province de Québec. N.p., Quebec, 1932. 252 pp., illus.

## Hooper, Cecil H.

A Year Among the Orchards of Nova Scotia. T.W. Bigelow, Nova Scotia, 1899. 22 pp. Printed for the Royal Horticultural Society, Spottiswoode & Co., London, 1899. 22 pp., illus.

# Hutchinson, A.

"Orchards of the Nineteenth Century." Ontario Museums Association, Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 3 (Autumn 1979), pp. 7-10. Toronto.

#### Hutt, H.L.

Planting and Caring for Young Trees in an Apple Orchard. Ontario Department of Agriculture, Toronto, 1896. 7 pp.

### Hutten, Anne

Valley Gold: The Story of the Apply Industry in Nova Scotia. Petheric Press, Halifax, 1981. 157 pp., illus.

# Johnson, George

"History of Fruit Culture in Canada." <u>Canadian History</u>, No. 10 (June 1900), pp. 257-66. Saint John, N.B.

### Irons, James

Practical Directions for the Selection and Management of Field and Garden Seeds in Nova Scotia. N.p., Halifax, 1851.

# Kruhm, Adolph

Canadian Home Vegetable Gardening from A to Z, by the editors of "The Garden Magazine." Musson Book Co., Toronto, 1918?. 294 pp., illus.

# Léopold, Rév. Père, O.C.R.

La Culture Fruitière dans la Province de Québec. Institut agricole d'Oka, La Trappe, Que. 191?. 269 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., revised and corrected, 1914.

# Leslie, W. R.

"Prairie Farm Gardens, 1934-1945." Canadian Society of Technical Agriculturists No. 23 (Dec. 1939), pp. 97-98, 101. Ottawa.

# Macoun, William T.

Orchard and Forest Tree Culture: Evidence Before the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization, 1899. Dawson, Ottawa, 1899. 22 pp.

---. Potato Raising: Evidence Before the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization. Dawson, Ottawa, 1900. 16 pp.

The Home Vegetable Garden and Patriotic Gardening Competition. Pamphlet 13, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1914. 7 pp.

---. The Apple in Canada; Its Cultivation and Improvement. Bulletin 86, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1916. 136 pp., illus.

---. Garden Making on Vacant Lots and the Home Vegetable Garden. Circular No. 13, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1917. 16

---. The Home Vegetable Garden. Pamphlet 14, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1917. 4 pp.

---. Vegetable Gardening at Home and on Vacant Lots. Circular No. 14, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1918. 11 pp.

Reference to the Source of Origin...." Proceedings of the International Congress of Plant Sciences, Ithaca, N.Y. Vol. 2 (1929), pp. 953-61.

# Mitchell, S. H.

Tomato-growing for Profit. Dudley and Burns, Toronto, 1895. 24 pp.

## Moore, George

Culture des fruits dans la province de Québec et plus particulièrement dans la partie est de la province. Langlois, Québec, 1892. 39 pp. 2nd. ed., rev. and aug. by J.C. Chapais and S. Depuis. Langlois, Québec, 1896. 60 pp.

---. Fruit Culture in the Province of Québec. Langlois, Quebec, 1892; 2nd. ed., 1896. 59 pp..

# Nova Scotia. Department of Agriculture.

Fruit Growing in Nova Scotia; Being a Reprint of a Series of Articles Appearing in the Annual Report of the Secretary for Agriculture for Nova Scotia for the Year 1916. Halifax, 1917. 210 pp., illus.

# Ontario. Department of Agriculture. Fruit Branch.

Fruit Growing Opportunities in Ontario Canada. Toronto, 1908.

---. The Fruits of Ontario. King's Printers, Toronto, 1907. 275 pp.; 1914. 320 pp., illus.

# Nova Scotia. Commission on Publics Works and Mines.

Orcharding and Gardening in Nova Scotia. King's Printer, Halifax, 1911. 175 pp., illus.

#### Parker, Asa

The Canadian Gardener. Thomas Watson, Aylmer, Que., 1851. 85 pp.

## Patterson, Cecil Frederick

Hardy Fruits with Special Reference to Their Culture in Western Canada. N.p., Saskatoon, 1936. 321 pp., illus.

# Provancher, Léon, l'abbé

Le verger Canadien ou culture raisonnée des fruits qui peuvent réussir dans les vergers et les jardins du Canada. Joseph Darveau, Québec, 1862. 153 pp. 2nd. ed., C. Darveau, Québec 1864, 190 pp., illus. 3rd. ed., 1874. 332 pp., illus. 4th. ed., 1881. 332 pp., illus. 5th. ed., 1885. 332 pp., illus.

Le verger, le potager, et le parterre dans la province de Québec. Darveau, Québec, 1874.

Reynaud, G.

Conseils pratiques sur la conduite des arbres fruitiers en verger. Québec, 1898. 20 pp.

---. Practical Advice for the Management of Fruit Trees in the Orchard. Québec, 1898.

48 pp.

Rush, George

Home Gardens in Wartime. Extension Circular No. 61, Ontario Department of Agriculture, Toronto, 1942. 4 pp.

Santerre, Alec, pseud.

De la culture des arbres et des arbustes fruitiers. Impr. Darveau, Québec, 1903. 207 pp., illus.

--- The Cultivation of Fruit Trees and Shrubs. Jos. Beauchamp, Québec, 1904. 192 pp., illus.

Saunders, William

Methods of Maintaining the Fertility of Land in Orchards. 8 pp. Paper read before the Ont. Fruit Growers' Assoc., Dec. 1897.

Saunders, William, and Auguste Dupuis

Horticulture au Canada/La culture fruitière en Canada. Ministère de l'agriculture, Ottawa, 1900. 23 pp., illus.

---. Horticulture in Canada/Fruit Growing in Canada. Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1900. 23 pp., illus.

Schmidt, Richard G., ed.

"An Act for the Preservation of Apple Trees in the Parish of Montreal." APT Bulletin, Vol. 7, No. 2 (1975), pp. 11-12. Ottawa.

Skinner, Helen

"The Kitchen Garden." <u>Canada Century</u> <u>Home</u>, No. 6 (April-May 1984), pp. 12-13. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "Wild Sweets." Canada Century Home, No. 12 (June-July 1985), pp. 14-16. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "How Thick the Apples Hang." <u>Canada Century Home</u>, No. 13 (Aug. 1985), pp. 16, 18. Port Hope, Ont.

Upshall, W.H., ed.

History of Fruit Growing and Handling in the U.S.A. and Canada, 1860-1972. American Pomological Society, University Park, Pa., 1976. 360 pp., illus.

Watt, George

Gardening for Greater Production. Bulletin No. 41, Regina Public Library, Regina, 1918.

Winslow, R.M.

Information for Fruit Growers with List of Varieties for Commercial and Home Planting. Bulletin 51, Cullen, Victoria, B.C., 1913. 55 pp.

Woolverton, Linus

The Canadian Apple Growers' Guide. W. Briggs, Toronto, 1910. 264 pp., illus. ---. Fruits of Ontario. Toronto, 1898, 95 pp; Dept. of Agriculture, Ontario, 1908. 32 pp.

#### GARDENING

#### Buck, F.E.

The Planting and Care of Shade Trees. Bulletin No. 19, Second Series, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1914. 24 pp.

#### Clarkson, Rosetta E.

Green Enchantment: The Magic Spell of Gardens. Macmillan, Toronto, 1940. 328 pp., illus.

Cottage Florist for the Province of Ontario; Being a Compendious and Practical Guide to the Cultivation of Flowering Plants, Adapted to the Climate of the Late Province of Upper Canada (The).

By an amateur florist. James Bain, Toronto, 1868. 56 pp.

#### Cutting, A.B.

Canadian Home Gardening the Year 'Round. Musson Book Co., Toronto, 1938. 251 pp., illus. New and rev. ed., Musson, 1941. 260 pp., illus.

#### Dunington-Grubb, H.B.

"The Suburban Garden." Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Journal, Vol. 14, No. 7 (July 1937), pp. 122-29. Toronto.

#### Gibson, J.W.

Trees and Shrubs: Their Selection, Planting and Care. Circular 6, Cullen, Victoria, B.C., 1916.

#### Holland, Leicester Bodine

The Garden Bluebook; a Manual of the Perennial Garden. S.B. Gundy, Toronto, 1915. 425 pp. Reprint Doubleday Page, Garden City, N.Y. 1915, 425 pp.; 2nd ed., Doubleday Page, Garden City, N.Y., 1921, 425 pp., illus. 1926, 1927, 1929. 234 pp., illus.

#### Hutton, F.V.

Garden Practices and Varieties for the Northwest. Dominion Experimental Station, Prince George, B.C., n.d. 15 pp., illus.

#### Jack, Annie L.

The Canadian Garden. A Pocket Help for the Amateur. W. Briggs, Toronto, 1903. 121 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., Musson, Toronto, 1910. 120 pp., illus.

#### Kemp, A.T.

Flowers Beautify Home Grounds. Alberta Dept. of Agriculture, Edmonton, 1935. 8 pp., illus.

#### Laing, George

"Floriculture in Spring." The Canadian Agriculturist, Vol. 13 (May 1, 1861), pp. 275-277.

---. "The Flower Garden." The Canadian Agriculturist, Vol. 15 (May 1863), pp. 189-190.

#### Léopold, Rév. Père, O.C.R.

La culture des fleurs. Manuel de floriculture et d'architecture paysagiste, adapté aux conditions de la province de Québec. Institut agricole d'Oka, La Trappe, Que., 135. 300 pp., illus. New ed., 1939. 430 pp., illus.

#### MacLennan, A.H., and Paul B. Sanders

Rose Culture. Bulletin 353, Ont. Agricultural College, Guelph, Ont., 1930. 46 pp., illus.

#### McNeil, Robert

Practical Tests on Gardening for Manitoba and North-West Territories. Wilson Bros., Winnipeg, 1884. 58 pp., illus.

#### Macoun, William T.

List of Herbaceous Perennials Tested in the Arboretum and Botanic Garden. Bulletin No. 5, Second Series, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1908. 112 pp., illus.

---. Ornamental Trees, Shrubs, and Woody Climbers. Bulletin No. 89, New Series, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1927. 52 pp., illus.

Trees and Shrubs Tested for Hedge Purposes at the Central Experimental Farm. Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1931. 44 pp., illus.

---. Les haies et leurs emplois: avec notes sur les arbres et les arbustes essayés pour la formating des haies à la ferme expérimentale centrale, Ottawa, et liste des meilleures haies sur les stations expérimentales fédérales annexées. F.A. Acland, Ottawa, 1931. 46 pp.

Macoun, William T., and Isabella Preston Hardy Roses, Their Culture in Canada. Bulletin No. 17, New Series, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1923. 31 pp., illus.

Moore, George

Semi-Tropical Bedding and Carpet Gardening. N.p., Montreal, 1888. 9 pp.

Moore, Henry J.

The Culture of Flowers: Annual, Half-hardy Biennial and Half-hardy Perennial Kinds and Foliage Plants. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1932. 232 pp., illus.

---. The Culture of Hardy Perennials and Biennials. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1933. 292 pp., illus.

Morgan, F.C.

"Rock-gardening in the Province of Quebec," in Rock Gardens and Rock Plants, Report of the Conference held by the Royal Horticulture Society and the Alpine Garden Society. (1936), pp. 20-29. London.

Nova Scotia. College of Agriculture.

Gardening in Nova Scotia. Halifax, 1919?.

134 pp.

Patterson, C.F., N.M. Ross, and G. Watt Lists of Horticultural Plants Recommended for Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan Horticultural Societies' Association, Saskatoon, 1931. 14 pp.

Perkins, Dorothy

Canadian Garden Book. Thomas Allen Publishers, Toronto, 1918. 116 pp., illus.

Preston, Isabella

Annual Flowers with Lists of Varieties for Special Purposes and Districts. Bulletin No. 60, New Series, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1926. 51 pp., illus.

---. <u>Herbaceous Perennials with Lists of Varieties for Special Purposes and Districts.</u> Bulletin No. 113, New Series, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1929. 70 pp., illus.

---. Garden Lilies. Orange Judd Publishing Company, New York, 1929. 126 pp., illus.

---. "Rosybloom Crabapples for Northern Gardens." Journal of the New York Botanical Garden, Vol. 45, No. 536 (Aug. 1944), pp. 169-74. New York.

---. Lilies for Every Garden. Orange Judd Publishing Co., New York, 1947. 160 pp.

Robertson, W.H.

Gardening on a City Lot. B.C. Dept. of Agriculture Circular No. 6, Cullen, Victoria, B.C. 1914. 8 pp.

Skinner, Helen

"Old Roses." <u>Canada Century Home</u>, Vol. 1, No. 1 (March-April 1983), pp. 10-13. Port Hope, Ont.

--- "Autumn Planting Bulbs." <u>Canada Century Home</u>, Vol. 1, No. 3 (Sept.-Oct. 1983), pp. 13-14. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "Winter Window Garden." <u>Canada Century Home</u>, Vol. 1, No. 4 (Nov.-Dec. 1983), pp. 52-53. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "With a Lilac by the Door: Some Research into Early Gardens in Ontario." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 35-7. Ottawa.

Spencer, J.B., ed.

Vacant Lot Gardening in 1917. Pamphlet No. 6, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1917. 18 pp., illus.

Thomas, H.H.

Hardy Border Flowers .... Cassell, Toronto, n.d. 144 pp.

Tinline. M.J.

Flowers for the Prairie Home. Exhibition Circular 108, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1924. 4 pp., illus.

Wyman, Donald

"The Preston Lilacs." American Nurseryman, Vol. 132, No. 11 (Dec. 1, 1970), pp. 10-13. Chicago.

#### GARDEN ORNAMENTS

#### Archibald, Stephen

"Civic Ornaments: Ironwork in Halifax Parks."

Material History Bulletin/Bulletin d'histoire de
la culture matérielle, National Museum of
Man. No. 5 (Spring 1978), pp. 1-11. Ottawa.

#### Clemson, Donovan

"Some Western Fences." <u>Canadian Geographical Journal</u>, Vol. 81, No. 4 (1970), pp. 130-33. Ottawa.

Hanson, Lee H. Jr., and George C. Shott

"Excavations in an Early 18th Century Garden Pool at Louisbourg, August 1968." Manuscript Report Series No. 56. Parks Canada, Ottawa, 1968.

#### Reaburn, Pauline and Ronald Reaburn

"Fence Patterns on Old Canadian Farms." Canadian Geographical Journal, Vol. 95, No. 1 (Aug./Sept. 1977), pp. 36-41. Toronto.

#### Rohr, René R.J.

Les cadrans solaires: traité gnomonique théorique et appliquée. Gauthier-Villors, Paris, 1965. 207 pp., illus.

---. Sundials; History, Theory, and Practice. Gabriel Godin, trans. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1970, 142 pp., illus.

#### Symons, Harry

Fences; a Fascinating Story of the Pioneer Fences of Ontario with Some References to Early History. Day, Toronto, 1958. 155 pp. McGraw-Hill, Ryerson, Toronto, 1974. 155 pp., illus.

#### Thuro. Catharine M.V.

"Victorian Flower Stands." <u>Canadian Collector</u>, Vol. 4, No. 9 (Jan./Feb. 1979), pp. 25-28.

#### Walker, Howard

"Gazebo ... For a Summer With a View." Canada Century Home, No. 12 (June-July 1985), pp. 55-7. Port Hope, Ont.

#### LANDSCAPING - PRACTICAL

#### Aul, H.E.

How to Beautify and Improve Your Home Ground. McLeod, Toronto, 1949. 320 pp., illus.

#### Bossé, Gérard

Embellissons nos demeures. Imprimerie Bégin, Québec 1947. 47 pp., illus.

#### Brodrick, F.W.

Beautifying the Farm Home. Circular 44, Manitoba Agricultural College, Winnipeg, 1917. 11 pp.

---. Beautifying Home Surroundings. Circular 71, Manitoba Dept. of Agriculture and Immigration, Winnipeg, 1924. 4 pp.

#### Buchanan, J.

Attractive Home Grounds at Small Cost. Extension Form 2, Ontario Agricultural College, Guelph, 1939. 2 pp.

#### Buchanan, J., and Louisa Herinoga

Beautifying the Farm Home. Ontario Agricultural College, Guelph, 1939. 2 pp., illus.

#### Buck, F.E.

Beautiful Homes and How the Farmer May Make Them. Exhibition Circular 40, Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1915. 4 pp.

---. Planning the Home Lot. Exhibition Circular No. 39, Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1915. 4 pp.

#### Engelhardt, H.A.

The Beauties of Nature Combine with Art. John Lovell, Montreal, 1872. 174 pp.

#### Floyd, J. Austin

"The Architect's Garden Versus the Gardener's Garden." Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Journal, Vol. 27, No. 8 (August 1950), pp. 258-59. Toronto.

#### Harcourt, George

Beautifying the Home Grounds. Leaflet No. 7, Extension Dept., University of Alberta, Edmonton, 1932. 2 pp.

#### Hodgins, J.H., and M.-E. MacPherson

Canadian Homes and Gardens Book of Houses. MacLean, Toronto, 1930. 242 pp., illus. 2nd. ed., 1932. 128 pp., illus.

#### Howitt, M.H.

Beautifying the Home Grounds of Canada. Published jointly by the Experimental Farms Branch of the Federal Dept. of Agriculture and the Canadian Horticultural Council, Ottawa, 1930. 87 pp., illus.

#### Nottet, Henry

Embellissement ou architecture paysagiste. Dept. of agriculture, Québec, 1941. 35 pp.

#### Oliver, R.W., and A.J. Logsdail

Beautifying the Farm Home Grounds. Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, 1940. 5 pp.

#### Ontario. Housing Committee.

Report on the Treatment of the Surroundings of the Small Home Including (1) the Subdivision of Land for Industrial Housing and (2) the Lay Out of the Individual Lot. A.T. Wilgress, Toronto, 1919.

#### Onufrijchuk, Theodore

Landscaping for Canadian modern living in the prairie provinces. Preparation and correction of language by Anastasia Zuck. Redeemer's Voice Press, Yorkton, Sask., 1902, 1963. 93 pp., illus.

#### Ottawa Horticultural Society

Ottawa, a City of Gardens; a Guide for the Improvement of the Lawns and Gardens in Ottawa. Prepared by R.B. White, W.T. Macoun, F.E. Buck, J.B. Spencer; published by the Society by R.B. White, Ottawa, 1916. 100 pp., illus.

Saskatchewan. Department of Agriculture. Home Beautification. Regina, 1919. 8 pp.

#### Skinner, Helen

"With a Neat Picket Fence." Canada Century Home, Vol. 1, No. 2 (May 1983), pp. 50-3. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "Fragrant Entrance." <u>Canada Century</u> <u>Home</u>, No. 7 (Summer 1984), pp. 17-18. Port Hope, Ont.

Hope, Ont.
---. "Oh Christmas Tree, Oh Christmas Tree,
How Lovely Are Your Branches." <u>Canada</u>
Century Home, No. 9 (Nov.-Dec. 1984), pp. 1416. Port Hope, Ont.

#### Todd, Frederick

Esthetic Forestry. Montreal Witness Printing Co., Montreal, 1922. 23 pp.

#### Van Nieuwenhove, Omer

L'embellissement des abords de la ferme. Bulletin 146, Ministère de l'agriculture, Québec, 1940. 14 pp.

#### HISTORIC GARDENS

Appleton, Frank M.

"The Butchart Gardens." Horticulture, Vol. 58, No. 4 (April 1980), pp. 35-43. Boston.

#### Bain, David, and Mike Leonard

"The Landscape of Dundurn Castle." <u>Journal of Garden History</u>, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 208-18. London.

#### Boutin, André

"Le Estevan Lodge et les Jardins de Métis." Revue d'histoire du Bas-Saint-Laurent, Vol. 11, No. 1 (Jan.-March 1985), pp. 3-9. Rimouski, Que.

#### Buggey, Susan

"For Use and Beauty — Parks Canada Designates Historic Gardens of National Importance." Canadian Collectors, Vol. 20, No. 1 (Jan. 1985), pp. 27-30. Toronto.

#### Buggey, Susan, and John Stewart

"Lakehurst and Beechcroft, Roches Point, Ontario." Journal of Garden History, Vol. 1, No. 2 (1981), pp. 147-166. London.

#### Crawford, Pleasance

The Ontario Home Landscape: 1890-1914. Department of Landscape Architecture, University of Toronto, Toronto, 1981. 62 pp., illus. ---. "A 1910 Ontario Town Garden." Trellis, Vol. 8, No. 6 (Nov. 1981), pp. 5-8. ---. "Boultons' Garden. Fifty Years in the Landscape of The Grange, Toronto," Canadian Collector, Vol. 19, No. 4 (July 1984), pp. 29-31. Toronto.

#### Dean-Hatch, L.

"The Sunken Gardens of Victoria." The Canadian Magazine, Vol. 64, No. 4 (May 1925), pp. 100-1, 116-18. Toronto.

#### Fisher, Ron

"The Development of the Garden Suburb in Toronto." Journal of Garden History, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 193-207. London.

Hale, Katherine, pseud. (Garvin, Amelia Beers)
Canadian Houses of Romance. MacMillan,
Toronto, 1926. 213 pp., illus.

#### Harper, J. Russell

"Loyalist Gardens." The Maritime Advocate and Busy East, Vol. 45, No. 6 (Feb. 1955), pp. 5-10. Fredericton, N.B.

#### Harvey, Mary MacKay

"Gardens of Shelburne, Nova Scotia, 1785-1820." Nova Scotia Museum Curatorial Report No. 39, Halifax, 1974. Also printed in APT Bulletin, Vol. 7, No. 2 (1975), pp. 32-72. Ottawa.

#### Henshaw, Julia W.

"Wonder Gardens of the Canadian West." Country Life, Vol. 43, No. 3 (Jan. 1923), pp. 44-7. Garden City, New York.

#### Hubbard, Robert Hamilton

Rideau Hall: An Illustrated History of Government House, Ottawa, Victorian and Edwardian Times. Queen's Printer, Ottawa, 1967. 139 pp., illus.

residence du Gouverneur général à Ottawa sous Victoria et Edouard VII. Imprimeur de la Reine, Ottawa, 1967. 139 pp., illus.

---. Rideau Hall: An Illustrated History of Government House, Ottawa, from Victorian Times to the Present Day. McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal, 1977. 281 pp., illus.

---. Rideau Hall: histoire illustrée de la résidence du Gouverneur général à Ottawa depuis l'époque victorienne jusqu'à nos jours. McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal, 1979. 284 pp., illus.

#### Langdon, Eustella

Pioneer Gardens at Black Creek Pioneer Village. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Toronto, 1972. 64 pp., illus.

#### Le Moine, James MacPherson

Maple Leaves: A Budget of Legendary, Historical, Critical and Sporting Intelligence. Hunter, Rose, Québec, 1863, 1864, 1865 (third series). Maple Leaves: Canadian History, Literature, Sport. A Coté, Quebec?, 1873. Maple Leaves: Canadian History, Literature, Ornithology. L.J. Demers, Québec?, 1894.

---. Monographies et esquisses. Impr. de J.G. Gingras, Québec, 1885. 478 pp. ---. Picturesque Quebec: A Sequel to Quebec Past and Present. Dawson Brothers, Montreal, 1896. 535 pp., illus.

Matthew, Margaret

"Garden in the Gulch." <u>Canadian Antiques</u> Collector, Vol. 8, No. 1 (Jan. 1973), pp. 13-14. Toronto.

O'Neill, Anne

"The Gardens of 18th Century Louisbourg."

Journal of Garden History, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 176-178. London.

---. "Discipline and Beauty: The Orderly Gardens of 18th Century Louisbourg." Canadian Collector, Vol. 20, No. 2 (March 1985), pp. 42-44. Toronto.

Orford, Emily-Jane

"A Vision of Beauty — The Butchart Gardens, Victoria." Canada Century Home, No. 10 (Feb.-March 1985), pp. 14-16, 19. Port Hope, Ont.

Pantazzi, Michael

"A Victorian Garden." <u>Trace</u>, Vol. 2 (April/May/June 1981), pp. 31-36. Toronto.

Patterson, Nancy-Lou

"Mennonite Gardens." <u>Canadian Antiques and Art Review</u>, Vol. 1, No. 9 (June 1980), pp. 36-39. Halifax.

Potts, Ada L.

"Early Canadian Gardens." The Chatelaine, Vol. 2 (July 1919), pp. 19, 42. Toronto.

Silver, Marietta

"Was There Never a Garden?" Nova Scotia Historical Quarterly, Vol. 4, No. 2 (1974), pp. 147-54. Halifax.

Stewart, John, and Susan Buggey

"Canada's Living Past --- Historic Landscapes and Gardens." OALA Review, Vol. 2, No. 2 (August 1976), pp. 6-13. Toronto.

Warren, W.H.

"Paradise: The Butchart Gardens." Garden, Vol. 2, No. 4 (July/Aug. 1978), pp. 14-15. New York.

Wylie, E.A.

"Some Notes on Architecture, Interiors and Gardens in Quebec in 1831." APT Bulletin, Vol. 7, No. 2 (1977), pp. 2-8. Ottawa.

#### NORTHERN GARDENS

Albright, W.D.

Gardens of the Mackenzie .... American Geographical Society, New York, 1933. Reprinted from Geographic Review, Vol. 23, No. 1 (Jan. 1933), pp. 1-22.

Cole, Leslie

"Ben-My-Chree, A Garden in the Wilderness." The Beaver, Outfit 314, No. 4 (May 1984), pp. 43-7. Toronto.

Hudson's Bay Company

How to Grow Gardens at HBC Posts; a Handy Manual of Gardening Designed to Help in the Cultivation of More and Better Gardens at the Company's Posts in the North. Winnipeg, 1940. 40 pp.

Moodie, D.W.

"Gardening on Hudson Bay: The First Century." The Beaver, Vol. 309, No. 1 (1978), pp. 54-59. Toronto.

Niven, Frederick John

A Lady in the Wilderness, a Tale of the Yukon ... Not of its Gold, But of Ben-My-Chree, the Long Famous Northern Garden of Mrs. Partridge. Reprinted from the Canadian Home Journal. N.p., printed by Farwest, 1930 or 31, 10 pp.

Webb, Kenneth

"Arctic Gardens." Horticulture, Vol. 57, No. 6 (June 1979), pp. 46–52. New York.

#### RAILWAY GARDENING

Boyd, F.A.W.

"Railway Gardening on the Prairie as Carried On By the C.P.R. Co." B.A. thesis, Ontario Agricultural College, Guelph, 1912.

Canadian Pacific Railway Company

The C.P.R. Company's Experimental Farms. Winnipeg, 1884. 15 pp.

---. The Empress Hotel, Victoria, B.C., C.P.R. Hotel System. N.p., n.d.

---. Railway Gardening in Canada. N.p., n.d. ---. 14th Annual Report. Horticultural Section, Forestry Branch, 1921.

Chicanot, E.L.

"Beautifying a Railroad System." <u>Landscape</u> Architecture, Vol, 15, No. 3 (April 1925), pp. 185-94. Boston.

Empress Hotel, Victoria

The Empress Hotel, Victoria, B.C. Greets You With Charming Gardens. N.p., Victoria, 1940. 24 pp.

Garland, Aileen

"Gardens Along the Right of Way." Manitoba Pageant, Vol. 22, No. 2 (Winter 1977), pp. 5-7. Winnipeg.

Martin, J. Edward

The Railway Stations of Western Canada, an Architectural History. Studio E, White Rock, B.C., 1980. 118 pp., illus.

Park and Cemetery and Landscape Gardening "Station Grounds That Serve as City Parks." Vol. 22 (April 1912), pp. 45-6. Chicago.

#### SCHOOL GARDENING

#### Alberta. Department of Education.

Bulletin Relating to Instruction in Agriculture and Gardening in Elementary Schools. Edmonton, 1917. 125 pp.

#### Bedford, S.A.

Plans and Specifications for Rural Schools; Suggestions for the Planning and Decoration of School Grounds. Hooper, Winnipeg, 1903. 30 pp.

## British Columbia. Department of Agriculture. Instructions to Teachers and School Boards with Reference to School and Home Gardening. Circular 4, Cullin, Victoria, B.C. 1917.

--- School-supervised Home-gardening and Home-project Work. Circular 8, Cullin, Victoria, B.C., 1921.

## Canada. Department of Agriculture. Publications Branch.

The School Garden as Regarded and Carried on in the Different Provinces. Pamphlet 4, Ottawa, 1916.

#### Canadian Seed Growers' Association

Home Gardening and Canning. Prepared by the Committee in charge of a special scheme to encourage the teaching of elementary horticulture and agriculture in the rural schools of Carleton County, Ottawa, 1915. 15 pp.

#### Cowley, R.H.

The Macdonald School Gardens of Canada. Reprint from Queen's Quarterly 1905, pp. 393-418, illus. Kingston.

#### Gayman, Harvey M., comp.

Rittenhouse School and Gardens, Jordan Harbor, Lincoln County, Ont. William Briggs, Toronto, 1911.

#### McCready, Samuel Broadfoot

Gardening for Schools. Bulletin 152, Ontario, Dept. of Agriculture, Toronto, 1906. 32 pp.

#### Magnan, Jean Charles

Le jardin scolaire: comment l'établir, instruction et directions pratiques. Bulletin 12, Quebec Dept. of Agriculture, Québec, 1915. 24 pp.

#### Manitoba. Department of Education.

Agriculture in Manitoba Schools. Winnipeg, 1914.

#### Norris, J.

The School Gardener. Cassell, Toronto, 1921. 194 pp.

#### Ontario. Department of Education.

"Plan of the School Site, Trees, Shrubberies, Etc." Journal of Education Ont., Vol. 23 (March 1870).

---. Improvement of School Grounds. Toronto, 1908. 35 pp., illus.

---. Elementary Agriculture and Horticulture and School Gardens. Circular 13, Toronto, 1909.

---. <u>Children's Gardening</u>. Circular 13A, Cameron, Toronto, 1912. 15 pp.

#### Pratt, J.M.

"Municipal School Gardens." Grain Growers' Guide (April 14, 1915), p. 10. Winnipeg.

#### Quebec. Department of Agriculture.

Report of the Director of School Gardens. Annual Reports, ca. 1917.

---. Instructions to School Gardeners. How to Cultivate Your Vegetables and Flowers. Circular 68, Québec, 1923. 4 pp.

#### Saskatchewan. Department of Education.

Gardening for the Schools of Saskatchewan. Reid, Regina, 1915. 41 pp.
---. Seed Catalogue for School Gardens. Circular 4, Reid, Regina, 1915. 12 pp.

---. The School Garden. Circular 6, Reid, Regina, 1916. 66 pp., illus.

#### Sherwood, Herbert Francis

Children of the Land. The Story of the Macdonald Movement in Canada. Reprinted from The Outlook (April 23, 1910), New York.

Steeves, R.P.

The School Garden -- Its Purpose -- Its Care During Vacation. New Brunswick Department of Agriculture, Fredericton, N.B., 1917. 4 pp.

Watson, H.W.

"School Gardening." Grain Growers' Guide (March 3, 1915), p. 8. Winnipeg.

Winslow, R.M.

Hints on Caring for School Gardens. Circular 4, Cullin, Victoria, B.C., 1913. 4 pp.

#### **BOTANICAL GARDENS**

#### Davidson, John

The University of British Columbia Botanical Gardens. Univ. of British Columbia, Vancouver, 1938. 19 pp., illus.

Dore, William G.

"Canada's First Botanic Garden." Greenhouse - Garden - Grass, Dept. of Agriculture, Vol. 6, No. 2 (Summer 1967), pp. 6-14. Ottawa.

#### Fletcher, James

The Educational Value of Botanic Gardens. J.D. Taylor, Ottawa, 1891. 9 pp.

Laking, Leslie

"Royal Botanical Gardens." Ontario Library Review, Vol. 58, No. 3 (Sept. 1974), pp. 152-55. Toronto.

#### Penhallow, David Pearce

On the Establishment of a Botanic Garden and Arboretum in Montreal, Under the Auspices of the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of Quebec: Reprint from 10th Annual Report. N.p., Montreal(?), 1885. 14 pp.

et d'un arboretum à Montréal: sous les auspices de la Société d'horticulture de Montréal et de l'Association pour la culture des fruits de la province de Québec. N.p., Montreal(?), 1885(?). 15 pp.

Sangster, Dorothy

"Montreal's World-renowned Botanical Garden." Canadian Geographic, Vol. 100, No. 1 (Feb./Mar. 1980), pp. 6-19. Ottawa.

#### Wyman, Donald, comp.

The Arboretums and Botanical Gardens of North America. Arnold Arboretum of Harvard University, Jamaica, Mass., 1959. 69 pp., illus.

#### **PARKS**

Barraclough, Morris

From Prairie to Park: Green Spaces in Calgary. Century Calgary Publications, Calgary, 1975. 128 pp.

---. Beauty Spots at Vancouver, Canada: The Lion-Guarded City. Vancouver Publicity Bureau, Vancouver, 1916. 56 pp., illus.

#### Bellman, David

"Frederick Law Olmsted and a Plan for Mount Royal Park." Landscape Architecture Canada, Vol. 3, No. 4 (Dec. 1977), pp. 7-24. Toronto.
---. "Mont-Royal, Montréal/Mount Royal, Montreal." Supplement to RACAR (Revue d'art Canadienne/Canadian Art Review), No. 1 (Dec. 1977). Montreal.

#### Bisson, P. Richard

"Perspectives." (Mount Royal Park) Landscape Architecture, Vol. 3, No. 4 (Dec. 1977), pp. 46-55. Louisville, Ky.

#### Boyer, Barbaranne

The Boardwalk Album: Memories of the Beach. Boston Mills Press, Erin, Ont., 1985. 72 pp.

## Cavett, Mary Ellen, H. John Selwood, and John C. Lehr

"Social Philosophy and the Early Development of Winnipeg's Parks." <u>Urban History Review</u>, Vol. 11, No. 1 (1982), pp. 27-39. Ottawa.

#### Cochla, Mark

"Port Arthur's Waverley Park: An Attempt at City Beautification." Thunder Bay Historical and Museum Society, Paper and Records, Vol. 5 (1977), pp. 24-31. Thunder Bay, Ont.

#### Collard, Edgar Andrew

The Story of Dominion Square/Place du Canada. Longman Canada, Don Mills, Ont., 1971. 63 pp., illus.

#### Collins, Louis

"A Dream of Beauty: The Halifax Public Gardens." Canadian Antiques and Art Review, Vol. 1, No. 9 (June 1980), pp. 21-25. Halifax.

Cullen, Mary K.

"The Late Nineteenth Century Development of the Queen Square Gardens, Charlottetown, P.E.I." <u>APT Bulletin</u>, Vol. 9, No. 3 (1977), pp. 1-20. Ottawa.

#### Czolowski, Ted

Legacy to Behold: Famous Parks and Gardens in and Near Vancouver and Victoria, British Columbia. Quest Travelbooks, Vancouver, 1970. 96 pp. 2nd. ed., 1971.

Douglas, William

"The Winnipeg Parks." <u>Manitoba Historical</u> and Scientific Society Transactions, Series 3, No. 14 (1959), pp. 61-65. Winnipeg.

## Dunington-Grubb, H.B. and L.A. Dunington-Grubb

City of Brantford; Preliminary Report to the Parks Commission on Future Development and Improvement. Toronto, 1914. 47 pp., illus.

#### International Peace Garden, Inc.

The International Peace Garden. Boissevain, Manitoba, Dunseithi, N.D., n.d. 8 pp.

#### Jacobs, Peter

"Beyond Parks: Stages in the Innovation and Re-creation of the City of Montreal." <u>Landscape Planning</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2 (August 1979), pp. 225-36. Amsterdam, Netherlands.

#### Killen, Gerald

"Mowat and a Park Policy for Niagara Falls, 1873-1887." Ontario History, Vol. 70, No. 2 (June 1978), pp. 115-36. Toronto.

#### Laporte, Rodney E.

"The Development of Parks in Regina, 1882-1930: Private Initiative and Public Policy." M.A. thesis, University of Regina, Regina. 1984.

#### Lefolii, K.

"Mount Royal's Valiant Stand Against Progress." Maclean's Magazine, Vol. 72 (March 28, 1959), pp. 16-19, 59-62. Toronto.

#### Lindgren, Edward

"Public Gardens — A Victorian Ideal." <u>Canadian Heritage</u>, Vol. 11, No. 3 (Aug./Sept. 1985), pp. 14-19. Toronto.

#### McDonald, Robert A.J.

"'Holy Retreat' or 'Practical Breathing Spot'?: Class Perceptions of Vancouver's Stanley Park, 1910-1913." Canadian Historical Review, Vol. 65, No. 2 (1984), pp. 127-53. Toronto.

#### McKee, W.C.

"Parks in Early Vancouver." M.A. thesis, University of Victoria, Victoria, B.C. 1972.

#### MacLennan, Catherine Mae

Rambling Round Stanley Park. 2nd. ed. Ryerson Press, Toronto, 1935. 47 pp., illus.

### Markham, Susan E., and Christopher R. Edginton

"The Common of Halifax, Canada's First Park." Recreation Canada, No. 1 (February 1979), pp. 12-17. Mississauga, Ont.

#### Marsan, Jean-Claude

"Le parc du Mont-Royal à cent ans." Vie des arts, Vol. 19, No. 75 (Summer 1974), pp. 17-22. Montreal.

#### Martin, Linda, and Kerry Segrave

City Parks of Canada. Mosaic Press, Oakville, Ont., 1983. 120 pp., illus.

#### Murphy, Daniel

Queen Elizabeth Park and the Bloedel Conservatory. Hancock House, North Vancouver, B.C., April 1981.

#### Murray, A.L.

"Frederick Law Olmsted and the Design of Mount Royal Park, Montreal." <u>Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians</u>, Vol. 26, No. 3 (October 1967), pp. 163-71. Philadelphia.

#### Olmsted, Frederick Law

Mount Royal, Montreal. G.P. Putnam's Sons, New York, 1881. 80 pp.

## Ontario. Commissioners, Queen Victoria Niagara Falls Park.

The Niagara River With its Canadian Environments. From Lake Erie to Lake Ontario. Brigdens, Toronto, n.d. 29 pp., illus.

#### Patterson, Nancy-Lou

"The Iron Cross and the Tree of Life: German-Alsatian Gravemarkers in Waterloo Region and Bruce County Roman Catholic Cemeteries."

Ontario History, Vol. 68, No. 1 (March 1976), pp. 1-16. Toronto.

#### The Public Gardens of Halifax, Nova Scotia

Halifax, ca. 1920. 20 pp., illus.

#### Rawlings, W.S., comp.

Handbook of Parks, Playgrounds and Bathing Beaches. B.C. Board of Park Commissioners, Vancouver, 1925. 69 pp., illus.

#### Rees, Ronald

"Wascana Centre: a Metaphor for Prairie Settlement." <u>Journal of Garden History</u>, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 219-32. London.

#### Service des Parcs de Montréal

Garden of Wonders, Lafontaine Park. Montreal, 1959.

#### Seibel, George Alfred, and Olive M. Seibel

Ontario's Niagara Parks: 100 Years: A History. Niagara Parks Commission, Niagara Falls, Ont., 1985. 413 pp., illus.

#### Seline, Janice Eleanor

"Frederick Law Olmsted's Mount Royal Park, Montreal: Design and Context." M.A. thesis, Concordia University, Montreal, 1983.

#### Shipley, Nan

International Peace Garden 50th Anniversary. Peguis Publishers, Winnipeg, 1982. 37 pp., illus.

#### Skinner, Helen

"Gardens of Adonis." Canada Century Home, Vol. 1, No. 5 (Feb.-March 1984), pp. 16-19. Port Hope, Ont.

#### Sloane, Susan

"Le Parc de Métis." Horticulture, Vol. 57, No. 6 (June 1979), pp. 40-45. New York.

Stormon, John A.

A History of the International Peace Garden. Reprint from North Dakota History, Vol. 31, No. 4 (October 1964). The State Historical Society of North Dakota, Bismark, N.D., 1964. 13 pp., illus.

Todd, Frederick G.

Report of Frederick G. Todd, Esq., Landscape Architect, Montreal to the Ottawa Improvement Commission, August 28th, 1903. Ottawa, 1903. 40 pp., illus.

Way, Ronald L.

Ontario's Niagara Parks: A History. The Niagara Parks Commission, Fort Erie, Ont., 1946. 349 pp., illus., maps.

---. Ontario's Niagara Parks: A History. 2nd ed., The Niagara Parks Commission, Fort Erie, Ont., 1960. 299 pp., illus.

Wilson, Alex

"The Public Gardens of Halifax, Nova Scotia." Journal of Garden History, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 179-92. London.

Winnipeg. Parks and Recreation Department. The History and Development of Assiniboine Park and Zoo in Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. 1972. 32 pp., illus.

---. Kildonan Park; History and Development. 1972. 21 pp., illus.

---. St. Vital Park; History and Development. 1973. 10 pp., illus.

Woodcock, George

"Savage and Domestic: the Parks of Vancouver." Journal of Garden History, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 169-75. London.

Wright, J.R.

Urban Parks in Ontario, Part I: Origins to 1860. Media Production Services, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, 1983. 109 pp., illus.

---. Urban Parks in Ontario, Part II: The Public Park Movement, 1860-1914. Media Production Services, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, 1984. 220 pp., illus.

#### LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS - GARDENERS

#### Abel, P.M.

"The Wildwood was His School." Country Guide, Vol. 26, No. 2 (Feb. 1933), pp. 5, 25. Winnipeg.

Adell, Jacqueline

"J. Austin Floyd: A Humanistic Landscape Architect." Landscape Architectural Review. Vol. 5, No. 2 (July 1984), pp. 26-9. Willowdale, Ont.

#### Bain, David

"William Mundie, Landscape Gardener." <u>Journal of Garden History</u>, Vol. 5, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1985), pp. 298-308. London.

---. "William Mundie and Landscape Gardening in Canada West in the 1850s." Landscape Architecture Review, Vol. 7, No. 2 (May 1986), pp. 19-21. Toronto.

## Beard, Geoffrey, J. Wardman, and A. Heward, comps.

The Life and Work of a Northern Landscape Architect: Thomas H. Mawson, 1861-1933. Visual Arts Centre, Univ. of Lancaster, Lancaster, Eng., 1978.

#### Collier, Della

Echoes From an Old Garden. Jackson Printing Co., New Westminster, B.C., 1944. 104 pp., illus.

#### Collins, Bob

"Canada's Lady of the Lilies." <u>Canadian</u> Homes and Gardens, Vol. 30, No. 7 (July 1953), pp. 27, 47-48. Toronto.

#### Crawford, Pleasance

"C. Ernest Woolverton (1879-1934): Ontario Landscape Architect." <u>Landscape Architectural Review</u>, Vol. 3, No. 2 (June 1982), pp. 17-20. Toronto.

---. "Notes on Charles Maxson, Max Stolpe, and Other Contemporaries of C. E. Woolverton." Landscape Architectural Review, Vol. 3, No. 3 (Sept. 1982), pp. 9-10. Toronto.

---. "Robert Savery; John Blair." <u>Landscape</u> Architectural Review, Vol. 4, No. 3 (Sept. 1983), pp. 20-1. Toronto.

---. "Some Early Niagara Peninsula Nurserymen." Agriculture and Farm Life in the Niagara Peninsula: Proceedings, Fifth Annual Niagara Peninsula History Conference, Brock University, 16-17 April 1983, by John Burtniak and Wesley B. Turner eds. Brock University, St. Catherines, Ont., 1983. pp. 62-90.

---. "H.A. Engelhardt (1830-1897): Landscape Designer." German-Canadian Yearbook, Vol. 8

(1984), pp. 163-181.

---. "H.A. Englehardt (1830-1897) — Landscape Designer." <u>Landscape Architectural Review</u>, Vol. 5, No. 2 (July 1984), pp. 30-8. Willowdale, Ont.

---. "H.A. Engelhardt Followup." Landscape Architectural Review, Vol. 7, No.1 (March 1986), pp. 20-21. Toronto.

#### Donaldson, Sue Anne

"William Pearce: His Vision of Trees." Journal of Garden History, Vol. 3, No. 3 (July-Sept. 1983), pp. 233-44. London.

#### Dunington-Grubb, H.B.

"Beyond Four Walls." Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Journal, Vol. 9, No. 6 (July 1932), pp. 219-25. Toronto.

#### Fewster, Ernest Philip

My Garden Dreams. Graphic Publishers, Ottawa, 1926. 175 pp., illus.

#### Freeman, John Crosby

"Thomas Mawson: Imperial Missionary of British Town-Planning." RACAR (Revue d'art canadienne/Canadian Art Review), Vol. 2, No. 2 (1975), pp. 37-47. Montreal.

#### Grimwood, Paul, O.R. Scott, and M. Watson

"George Laing - Landscape Gardener, Hamilton, Canada West, 1808-1871." APT Bulletin, Vol. 9, No. 3 (1977), pp. 52-64. Ottawa.

#### Jacobs, Peter

"Frederick G. Todd and the Creation of Canada's Urban Landscape." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 27-34. Ottawa.

---. "The Quiet Vision of Frederick G. Todd." Landscape Architecture Canada (June 1977), pp. 1-4. Guelph, Ont.

## Manitoba. Department of Cultural Affairs and Historical Resources.

<u>Dr. Frank Leith Skinner</u>. Winnipeg, 1981. 11 pp., illus.

#### Mawson, David

"The Life and Works of Thomas Hayton Mawson." Landscape Architecture Canada. Vol. 5, No. 1 (Spring 1979), pp. 5-11. Guelph, Ont.

#### Montgomery, L.M.

"A Garden of Old Delights." The Canadian Magazine, Vol. 35 (June 1910), pp. 154-160.

#### Scott, Owen R.

"Herman Stensson — 1877-1938." Landscape Architecture Canada, Vol. 3, No. 3 (Oct. 1977), pp. 7-9. Guelph, Ont.

#### Shaw, Rosa L.

"She Creates Beauty." Chatelaine, Vol. 15, No. 10 (October 1943), pp. 64, 84-6. Toronto.

#### Stewart, John J.

"Notes on Calvet Vaux's 1873 Design for the Public Grounds of the Parliament Buildings in Ottawa." APT Bulletin, Vol. 8, No. 1 (1976), pp. 1-27. Ottawa.

#### Summerfield, Beatrice V.

Garden Dreams Realized. N.p., Lynn Valley, North Vancouver, 1930.

#### Vandermeulen, E.G.

"Mawson - a Landscape Architect at the Turn of the Century." Landscape Architecture Canada, Vol. 1, No. 1 (March 1977), pp. 2, 9-10. Guelph, Ont.

#### SOCIFTIES

#### Blue, Frances

"A Short History of the Canadian Society of Landscape Architects/L'Association des Architectes paysagistes du Canada." Unpublished paper, Toronto, 1970, 12 pp.

#### Bolduc, N.G.

"The Waterloo Horticultural Society." Waterloo Historical Society, 26th Annual Report, 1938, pp. 12-16. Waterloo, Ont.

#### Brown, H.W.

"History of the Kitchener Horticultural Society." Waterloo Historical Society, 26th Annual Report, 1938, pp. 6-12. Waterloo, Ont.

Catalogue of the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of Quebec. Montreal, 1886.

#### Coleman, Thelma

Stratford, the City Beautiful: The Story of the Stratford and District Horticultural Society, 1878-1978. Canadian Household Advertising Ltd., Stratford, Ont., 1978. 57 pp., illus.

#### Dixon, Keith

Vancouver Island Rock and Alpine Garden Society, 1921-1971. N.p., n.p. 1971. 11 pp.

#### Dodds, Philip F., and H.E. Markle

The Story of Ontario Horticultural Societies. 1854-1973. Picton Gazette Publishing Co., Picton, Ont., 1973. 270 pp., illus.

#### Drysdale, Art, ed.

Canadian Nurseryman Centennial Yearbook. Canadian Nursery Trade Assoc., Ottawa, Ont., 1967.

Fruit Growers' Association of Nova Scotia Annual Report. Vol. 1 (1874- ). Kentville, N.S. Title varies: 1874-93?, Transactions and Reports.

#### Hamilton Horticultural Society

Centennial Year Book and Garden Guide, 1850-1950. The Horticulture Society, Hamilton, 1950. 208 pp., illus.

---. Horticultural Society Catalogue, 1850-58. Gazette Office, Hamilton, n.d.

#### Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of British Columbia

Annual Report. Vol. 1 (1889- ). Vancouver. Title varies.

#### Kitchener Horticultural Society, Nineteen Twenty-Nine Year Book

Kitchener Horticultural Society, Kitchener, Ont., 1929, 58 pp., illus.

#### Laning, Leila Muriel

V.H.S. Victoria Horticultural Society Thru' the Years. Victoria, B.C., 1971 8 pp., illus.

#### Montreal Agricultural and Horticultural Societv

Proceedings Connected with the Formation of the Montreal Horticultural Society, and Its Constitution. Montreal, 1847.

#### Montreal Horticultural Society

Report, 1866.

---. Constitution and By-Laws of the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of Quebec. Print. and Pub. Co., Montreal, 1878. 11 pp. ---. List of Premiums Offered by the Montreal Horticultural Society: Amounting to Nearly \$1,200.00 Open to the Province of Quebec: Exhibition to be Held in Montreal, on Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday, 17th, 18th, 19th September, 1878. Lovell, Montreal, 1878. 7 pp. ---. List of Premiums Offered by the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of Quebec Amounting to \$1,600.00 Open to the Province of Quebec: Exhibition to be Held in Montreal in September, 1881, During the Provincial Exhibition: Entries Close One Week Previous to Opening of Exhibition. Herald Printing, Montreal, 1881. 21 pp.

---. List of Premiums Offered by the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of Quebec: Open to the Province of Quebec Exhibition to be Held at Montreal in September, 1886. Montreal Herald Print. Establishment, Montreal, 1886. 15 pp.

#### Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association

Third Report of the Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growers' Association of the Province of Quebec for the Year 1877. Montreal, 1878.

#### Novak, Leonard L.

"Canadian Landscape Architecture — Our Past and Future in the Environment Movement." Landscape Architecture Review, Vol. 5, No. 2 (July 1984), pp. 8-10. Willowdale, Ont.

#### Ontario Horticultural Society

Annual Reports. Ontario Dept. of Agriculture and Food, Toronto, 1906-.

#### Saskatchewan Horticultural Association

History of the Saskatchewan Horticultural Association, 1927-1977. Saskatchewan Horticultural Society, Regina, 1977.

#### Sheard, Kay, comp.

Regina Horticultural Society, Historical Notes from the Period 1901-1978. Regina Horticultural Society, Regina, 1978.

#### Stephens, L.R.

50 Years of Integrity, Leadership and Liaison. Canadian Horticultural Council, Ottawa, 1972. 160 pp., illus.

#### **Toronto Electoral District Society**

Prize List for the Toronto Electoral Society and the Horticultural Society's Grand Union Exhibition. Globe Printing Co., Toronto, 1880-81.

#### LANDSCAPE PRESERVATION

Carver, Humphrey

"Meadow and Field-Path." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 5-7. Ottawa.

Clarke, Ian

"Motherwell Historic Park Landscape and Outbuildings - Structural and Use History." Manuscript Report Series No. 219, Environment Canada - Parks, Ottawa, 1977. Now published in History and Archaeology 66, Parks Canada, Ottawa, 1983.

Dorney, R.S.

"Heritage Gardening of the Front Lawn Instead of Petunias." <u>Trellis</u>, Vol. 2, No. 3 (1975), pp. 8-14.

---. "Re-creating the Early Ontario Landscape in a Front Yard." Landscape Architecture (October 1975), pp. 420-23. Louisville, Ky. Also in: Landscapes For Living, Grady Clay, ed. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1980.

Ellwand, Nancy

"Motherwell Homestead: Restoration of a Landscape." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 67-71. Ottawa.

Architectural Review, Vol. 7, No. 2 (May 1986), pp. 10-12. Toronto.

Fernet, Carole

"Le Bois de Coulonge, une valeur patrimoniale." <u>Landscape Architectural Review</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1 (March 1985), pp. 11-13. Toronto.

Gagnon, Anne

Les jardins au Parc de l'Artillerie pendant la période britannique: dossier-rapport. Vol. 1. Parks Canada, Québec, 1982.

Greenberg, Kenneth

"Toronto: The Unknown Grand Tradition." Trace, Vol. 1, No. 2 (1981), pp. 37-46. Toronto.

Hough, Michael

"The Urban Landscape — The Hidden Frontier." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 9-14. Ottawa.

Hutchins, Nigel J.

"Restoration and Renovation VI: Landscaping Your Period House." Canadian Collector, Vol. 18, No. 2 (March/April 1983), pp. 45-48. Toronto.

Jackson, Anita C.

The Fisherman's Life Museum: Landscape Development Proposals. Nova Scotia Museum Curatorial Report No. 39, Halifax, June 1979. 86 pp., illus.

---. "The Garden at Prescott House." The Occasional, Vol. 5, No. 3 (Spring 1979), pp. 17-22. Halifax.

Klynstra, Peter

"Annapolis Royal Historic Gardens." Landscape Architectural Review, Vol. 4, No. 3 (July 1983), pp. 5-6. Toronto.

Konkle, Scott

Landscape Conservation of Dawson City. Preliminary Investigations and Inventories. John Stewart, ed. Dept. of Indian and Northern Affairs, Dawson City, Y.T., 1979, illus.

Michaud, Claude

"Analysis of the Architectural Landscape." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 41-53. Ottawa.

Morgan, P.J.

"Some Perceptions of Wascana Centre." <u>Landscape Architectural Review</u>, Vol. 5, No. 3 (Sept. 1984), pp. 18-21. Toronto.

Paine, Cecelia

"The Historic Landscape and the Landscape Architect's Role in its Preservation: Some Investigations." Billings estate, Ottawa M.L.A. thesis, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Mich., 1980.

---. "Restoration of the Billings Estate Cemetery." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 61-5. Ottawa.

Roy, Gilles

"Centre Hospitalier Douglas: profil historique." Landscape Architectural Review, Vol. 6, No. 4 (Sept./Oct. 1985), pp. 11-14. Toronto.

#### Schmidt, Ray

"Interpreting Images, A Slice at a Time." APT Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 4 (1983), pp. 57-9. Ottawa.

#### Scott, Owen R.

"Changing Rural Landscape in Southern Ontario." Proceedings, Third Annual Agricultural History of Ontario Seminar, 1978, Univ. of Guelph, Guelph, Ont., 1979.

---. "Utilizing History to Establish Cultural and Physical Identity in the Rural Landscape." Landscape Planning, Vol. 6, No. 2 (August 1979), pp. 179-203. Amsterdam, Netherlands.

#### Skinner, Helen

"Spadina, A Charm of House and Gardens." Canada Century Home, No. 14 (Oct.-Nov. 1985), pp. 32-5. Port Hope, Ont.

---. "The Garden Makers." Canada Century Home, No. 11 (April-May 1985), pp. 44-6. Port Hope, Ont.

#### Special International Niagara Board

The Preservation of Niagara Falls, Final Report of the Special International Niagara Board. King's Printer, Ottawa, 1930. 394 pp.

#### Stewart, John J.

Historic Landscapes and Gardens: Procedures for Restoration. Technical Leaflet No. 80, American Association for State and Local History, Nashville, Tenn., 1974. 12 pp., illus.

---. "Incorporating Photographs into Working Drawings." <u>APT Bulletin</u>, Vol. 9, No. 3 (1977), pp. 21-29. Ottawa.

---. "Landscape Archaeology: Existing Plant Material on Historic Sites as Evidence of Buried Features and as Survivors of Historic Species." <u>APT Bulletin</u>, Vol. 9, No. 3 (1977), pp. 65-72. Ottawa.

---. "Landscape Archaeologist at Work." Landscape Architecture, (March 1978), pp. 140-44. Louisville, Ky.

---. "The Grounds of John A.'s Bellevue House." Conservation Canada, Vol. 4, No. 2 (Summer 1978), pp. 7-9. Ottawa.

---. "Landscape Explorations - Preservation Theme." Landscape Architecture Canada, Vol. 6, No. 1 (1980), pp. 14-16. Guelph.

#### Stewart, John J., and Susan Buggey

"A Case for the Commemoration of Historic Landscapes and Gardens." APT Bulletin, Vol. 7, No. 2 (1975), pp. 99-123. Ottawa.

#### Thomas, Greg

"Lower Fort Garry National Historic Park. Period Landscape Study." Manuscript Report Series No. 407, Environment Canada — Parks, Ottawa, 1979.

#### Todhunter, Rodger, A.

"Preservation, Parks and the Vice-Royalty: Lord Dufferin and Lord Grey in Canada." Landscape Planning, Vol. 12 (1985), pp. 141-60. Amsterdam, Netherlands.

Tresch, Phillip S., and Roberta Lynch-Tresch Inventory of Period Landscapes and Features for the National Capital Commission. National Capital Commission, Ottawa, 1978. 140 pp., illus.

#### Waterston, Christina M.

"The Hermitage: An Exercise in Landscape Reconstruction." M.Sc. thesis, University of Guelph, Guelph, 1978. 137 pp., illus.

#### Wester, Lari

"Lighting Concepts for the Fortification at Quebec City." <u>Landscape Architecture Canada</u> (June 1977), pp. 6-14, 17-20. Guelph.

#### PERIODICALS

#### Agricultural

Canada Farmer. A Fortnightly Journal of Agriculture, Horticulture and Rural Affairs Vol. 1 (1864) - Vol. 5 (1868); n.s., Vol. 1 (1869) - Vol. 4 (1872); 3rd. ser., Vol. 1 (1873) - Vol. 4 (1876). Toronto.

Canadian Agriculturalist

Vol. 1 (1849) - Vol. 15 (1863). Toronto. Supersedes Agriculturalist and Canadian Journal; superseded by Canadian Farmer. Horticultural articles mainly technical - how to grow, how to combat insects and diseases, etc. Mainly concerned with agriculture, horticulture, and general maintenance.

Family Herald

Vol. 1 (Nov. 16, 1859) - Vol. ? (June 1869?); n.s., Vol. 1, No. 16 (Jan. 12, 1869) - Vol. 100 (Sept. 16, 1968) Montreal. Title varies slightly. Absorbed Farm and Ranch Review, June 1966. Something for every member of the family. Horticultural section very small, with main emphasis on agriculture.

#### Gardening/Horticutural

Canadian Florist, Greenhouse and Nursery

(Official organ of the Canadian Florists' and Gardeners' Assoc.). Peterborough, Ont. Vol. 1 (1905) - Vol. 55? (1960?) as Canadian Florist. Useful for news of the profession - to chart the floral fads of the day - what was selling, who was selling it, what supplies were used, what type of floral arrangements were favoured, etc. Houseplants, insect control, some landscaping trees and shrubs. Some photos, lots of advertising.

Canadian Homes and Gardens

Toronto. Vol. 1, No. 1 (1925) - Vol. 37 (Jan. 1960). Superseded by Canadian Homes Magazine, Vol. 38 (Sept. 1960) - Vol. 39 (1962). Very valuable for garden studies of its period. Lots of garden photos of estates and many how-to gardening articles. Reports of various city flower shows and some home landscaping plans, e.g. "Three Stately Gardens of Vancouver, B.C.," G.E. Altree Coley, Vol. 3, No. 4 (1928), p. 28.

## Canadian Horticultural History/Histoire de l'horticulture au Canada

Vol. 1, 1985-, Centre for Canadian Historical Horticultural Studies, Royal Botanical Gardens, Hamilton, Ont.

Canadian Horticultural Magazine

(Montreal Horticultural Society). Vol. 1, No. 11 (1897) - Vol. 2 (1898), Montreal. Montreal garden scene: landscape ideas, gardening howto's, historical notes, garden competitions and annual conservatory openings. Nine-part series on "Notes on old and modern gardens of Montreal," includes for example "Hardy Plants for the Garden," Annie L. Jack, Vol. 1, No. 1 (April 1897), pp. 10-14; "Park Woodlands and Plantations," n.a., Vol. 2, No. 4 (1898), pp. 87-91; "In An Old Fashioned Flower Garden," Joseph Meehan, Vol. 2, No. 5 (1898), pp. 112-113.

#### Canadian Horticulturalist

(Fruit Growers Association of Ontario). Title varies. 1877-, St. Catharines and Toronto. An extremely rich source for landscape and gardening history in the Victorian period (and beyond), especially as it seems to be geared to the "average" farmer, gardener, and fruit grower. Early volumes heavily concerned with horticultural basics, with a few garden articles, e.g. "A Visit to Mr. A. Gauld's Garden, London," Robert Burnet, Vol. 2, No. 10 (Oct. 1879); "Midsummer and Autumn Flowering Shrubs and Plants for the Decoration of Gardens," William C. Barry, Vol. 3, No. 7 (July 1880); "Laying Out a Lawn," n.a., Vol. 11, No. 2 (Jan. 1888). Main focus on introducing the care and cultivation of new varieties of fruit, garden flowers, houseplants, etc. Starting in 1888 (until ca. 1901) monthly series on "Some Prominent Canadian Horticulturists." series: notes from the Central Experimental Farm, profiles of horticultural societies and accomplishments of various civic improvement societies. By the 1900s photos and articles on individual gardens a standard feature, along with an increasing number of landscape ideas. greenhouse and conservatory plans (some earlier), histories and profiles of Canadian nurseries. Garden ornaments, furniture, and flower varieties increasingly illustrated, e.g. "Shady Nooks for Summer Days," n.a., Vol. 26, No. 7 (July 1903). From 1915, two editions: floral edition for the amateur gardener and fruit edition for the commercial fruit and vegetable grower. Floral edition: popular garden writers published here; also border plans, garden furniture, rockeries, flower and shrub varieties, etc.

#### The Garden Beautiful

Vol. 1 (1900-) Vancouver, B.C. Title varies: Vol. 6, No. 2 (19 March 1938), Garden Beautiful in Canada. Not published Aug. 1939 - March 1946. Very useful, lots of photos, interesting gardening articles on rock gardening, landscaping, garden ornaments, etc., e.g. "How the C.P.R. Helps Beautify Canada," n.a., Vol. 7, No. 2 (1938), pp. 6-8; "Landscaping Your House and Garden" (2 parts), F.S. Sanders, Vol. 9, Nos. 1, 2 (1946), pp. 38-39, 35-36; "An Achievement Story of a Montreal Garden," J.T. Bourgeois, Vol. 9, No. 12 (1946), pp. 44-47.

Garden Magazine and Home Journal

Vol. 1 (1908) - Vol. 11 (Aug. 1918), Vancouver. Title varies: Garden Magazine and Home Journal; Garden Magazine; Garden Orchard and Farm Magazine. Oriented to the housewife/farmwife, some good garden photos.

## Gardeners' Chronicle; the Horticultural Trade Journal

1841-, London, title varies: Oct. 8, 1976 -Jan. 3, 1986, Gardeners' Chronicle and Horticultural Trade Journal; Jan. 10, 1986-, Horticulture Week. Interesting drawings (e.g. a prototype of a mist propagator and diagrams of greenhouse heating systems), plus the usual botanical studies, horticultural notes, cultivation, insect control, garden tools, etc. Good for tracing British influences on Canadian gardening practices. Some Canadians contributed to the journal in the 1800s.

Gardening in British Columbia

Vol. 1, No. 1 (Feb. 1927) - Vol. 1, No. 12 (Jan. 1928), Vancouver. Photos, descriptions, articles on practical gardening and notes from the greater Vancouver Horticultural Society, e.g. "Native Plants for British Columbia Gardens," R. Glendenning, No. 2 (March 1927), p. 39.

#### Hamilton. Royal Botanical Gardens

Annual Reports, Garden Bulletin, Horticultural Leaflet, Member's Newsletter, Special Bulletins, Technical Bulletin, all from 1950 on. All very practical, oriented to "working" gardeners.

#### Jardin botanique de Montréal

Bulletin 1940-, Leaflets 1940-, Montreal. A few landscaping bulletins of interest, oriented to the home gardener.

#### Manitoba Horticulturist

Vol. 1 (May 1914) - Vol. 8, No. 5 (Dec. 1921), Winnipeg. (Formerly, Report of the Annual Convention, the Manitoba Horticultural and Forestry Assoc.) Gives good idea of activities in Manitoba: short articles on cultivation, insects, horticultural societies, e.g. "Flowers in the Farm Garden," Mrs. J.B. Hodgson, Vol. 2, No. 5 (1915), pp. 39-40; "Horticulture in the Canadian West," Arch. Mitchell, Vol. 2, No. 2 (1915), pp. 14-16.

## Montreal Horticultural Society and Fruit Growrers Assoc.

<u>Annual Report.</u> Vol. 1 (1875) - Vol. 17 (1985), Montreal.

#### The Ottawa Horticulturist

Vol. 1 (1911), Ottawa Horticultural Society, Ottawa. No photos, lots of practical gardening articles, all the "big" names published here (Macoun, Gussow), plant and bulk lists, e.g., "Flower Beds: Their Arrangement, Planting and General Management," George H. Garlick, Vol. 1, No. 6 (June 1911).

#### The Prairie Garden

Vol. 1 (1943-), Winnipeg Horticultural Society, Winnipeg. Annual.

#### This Week in the Arboretum

(Dominion Arboretum and Botanic Garden). Vol. 1 (1946) - Vol. 10 (1956), Ottawa. Weekly during the summer. Superseded by Arboretum Notes From the Central Experimental Farm. Vol. 12- (1957-) Ottawa.

#### Landscape

#### Canadian Landscape Architect

(Canadian Society of Landscape Architects),

1960-1966, Ottawa. Contemporary landscape techniques, designs, and ideas.

Landscape

Vol. 1 (1975) - Vol. 3 (1977), Carlisle, Ont. Continued as <u>Gardenland</u>, Hamilton, Ont. Vol. 4- (1978-). Both magazines are designed to be used by contemporary nurserymen.

Landscape Architectural Review

Vol. I (May/June 1980-), Willowdale, Ont.; supersedes OALA Review (Ontario Association of Landscape Architects), Vol. 1-5 (1975-1979). Contemporary landscape techniques, designs and ideas. A valuable section is "Historical Perspectives" — articles on a variety of historical topics.

Landscape Architecture Canada

(Canadian Society of Landscape Architects. Ottawa). 1975-80, Guelph. The most valuable section is "Roots" — historical articles on Canadian landscapes and landscape architects.

Landscape Canada/Paysage Canada

(Canadian Nursery Trades Associaton) Vol. 10, No. 6 (1973-), Ottawa; supersedes Canadian Nurseryman (Ontario Nursery Trades Assoc.) Vol. 1, No. 5 (1964) - Vol. 10 (May 1972), Burlington, Ont.; supersedes the Associations' monthly Newsletter, Vol. 1, (1964) as Nurseryman. Both are intended for the contemporary nurseryman.

#### Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Journal

Vol. 1 (1924) - Vol. 43, No. 6 (1966), Toronto; superseded by Architecture Canada (1966-69). This was superseded by Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Bulletin (1969-). H.B. Dunington-Grubb, a well-known Toronto land-scaper, was a frequent contributor. Also, Vol. 27, No. 8 (Aug. 1950) and Vol. 31, No. 7 (July 1954) were completely devoted to landscape architecture.

#### Miscellaneous

Canada Century Home

Vol. 1 (1983-), Port Hope, Ontario. Column on history of Canadian gardening. Features pre-1920 topics on furniture, gardens, homes, museums, city and country living.

Canadian Antiques Collector

Vol. 1 (1966-), Toronto. Changed title in 1975 to Canadian Collector. A few of articles connected with gardening, but mainly dealing with flower painting and vases, e.g. "Strickland Family Artists," Florence MacDonald, Vol. 2, No. 4 (April 1967), pp. 6-8.

Canadian Geographical Journal

(Royal Canadian Geographical Society) Vol. 1 (May 1930) - Vol. 96 (June/July 1978), continued as Canadian Geographic (1978-), Montreal, Ottawa. Primarily useful for wild flower studies, some articles of historical interest, e.g. "Yukon and Her Flowers," Martha Louise Black, Vol. 6, No. 1 (1933), pp. 17-26; "Botanic Gardens," H.T. Gussow, Vol. 11, No. 4 (1935), pp. 201-08.

Ontario History

Vol. 39 (1947-), formerly Ontario Historical Society, Papers and Records, Vols. 1 (1899) - Vol. 38 (1946), Toronto.

#### **Natural History**

## Bulletin of the Natural History Society of New Brunswick

Vol. 1, No. 1 (1882) - Vol. 7, No. 31 (1914), Saint John, N.B. Resumed in 1943 as Acadian Naturalist. Mainly concerned with floras and botanical studies, with occasional biographical sketches of natural history scientists: "Preliminary List of the Plants of New Brunswick," James Fowler, Vol. 1, No. 4 (1885), pp. 8-84.

#### The Canadian Naturalist, and Quarterly Journal of Science

Vol. 1 (1856) - Vol. 8 (1863), n.s., Vol. 1, No. 8 (1864) - Vol. 10 (1883), Montreal; Vol. 3 (n.s.) as Canadian Naturalist and Geologist. Superseded by Canadian Record of Natural History and Geology. Floras, herbaria collections, botany in general; obituary notices of early naturalists and botanists, e.g. "Hints to the Young Botanist, Regarding the Collection, Naming and Preserving of Plants," James Barnston, Vol. 2, No. 2 (1857), pp. 127-34; "Synopsis of the Flora of the Carboniferous Period of Nova Scotia," J.W. Dawson, Vol. 8, No. 6 (Dec. 1863), pp. 431-56.

## Natural History Review, a Quarterly Journal of Biological Science

(Natural History Society of Dublin) Vol. 1 (1954) - Vol. 7 (1960); n.s., Vol. 1 (1861) - Vol. 5 (1965), Dublin, Edinburgh, London. Subtitle varies.

#### Le Naturaliste canadien

Vol. 1, Dec. 1868- suspended March-Sept. 1883, Nov. 1883-June 1885, July 1891-Dec. 1893, March-June 1900, Jan. 1906-Dec. 1909, April-Sept. 1910, Oct.-Dec. 1929, Vols. 21-56 also as ser. 2; Vols. 57- also as ser. 3 (Univ. of Laval, Quebec, etc.). Founded by Abbé Provancher to popularize natural science, encourage research, collect observations, and report on new findings, for the amateur and professional. Most articles in French. Some interesting articles: biographic sketches of Canadian naturalists (up to 1873), Provancher's call for a Quebec botanical garden, bibliography of Canadian botany (1933), memorial articles on Provancher and Frère Marie-Victorin.

#### The Ontario Natural Science Bulletin

(Wellington Field Naturalists' Club) No. 1 (1899) - No. 8 (1913), Guelph. Mainly concerned with botanical studies, and other natural history subjects, e.g. "Some New or Little Known Canadian Plants," W. Herriot, No. 2 (1905), pp. 27-29; "Botanical Excursions," Theo. Holm, No. 3 (1907), pp. 2-5.

# Ottawa Field-Naturalists' Club Transactions Vol. 1, No. 1 (1879/83) - Vol. 2, No. 7 (1883/86), Ottawa. Superseded by Ottawa Naturalist, Vol. 1 (1887) - Vol. 32 (March 1919). Later called Canadian Field Naturalist. Covered all natural history subjects. Interesting articles: botanical gardens, history

#### Proceedings of the Miramichi Natural History Association

of the Experimental Farm, obituaries, etc.

No. 1 (1899) - No. 7 (1913), Chatham, N.B. Articles by competent amateurs and professionals on natural history.

#### Reference

## Keith's Florist Directory and Horticultural Guide

(Keith Publishing Co.) Vol. 1 (1932-), Toronto. Lists Canadian retail florists, wholesale growers, nurserymen, seedmen, allied trades, association officers, buyer's guide, and advertiser's index.

## McKim's Directory of Canadian Publications (A. McKim and Co.) 1892-1942, Montreal. List of the newspapers and periodicals published in the Dominion of Canada and Newfoundland with full particulars.

#### Scientific

The Annals of the Botanical Society of Canada (1861-63), Kingston. 196 pp. Transactions and correspondence of the Society and texts of papers presented at 11 meetings.

## Canadian Journal of Science, Literature and History

Vol. 1 (April 1852) - Vol. 3 (1855); n.s., Vol. 1 (1856) - Vol. 15 (Jan. 1878), Toronto. Title varies. Superseded by Royal Canadian Institute Proceedings.

## The Canadian Record of Science, Including Proceedings of the Natural History Society of Montreal and Replacing the Canadian Naturalist

Vol. 1, No. 8 (1884) - Vol. 9 (Sept. 1916), suspended (1897, 1905-13), Montreal. Very scientific. All the "big" names published here. Obituaries, floras, some notes on the Experimental Farm, e.g. "The Relation of Climate to Vegetation," D.P. Penhallow, Vol. 3, No. 2 (1886), pp. 107-24; "Sir William Dawson," Frank D. Adams, Vol. 8, No. 3 (1895), pp. 137-47.

#### Greenhouse - Garden - Grass

(Canada. Dept. of Agriculture. Plant Research Institute) Vol. 1 (1960-), Ottawa. Only two historical articles, all the rest technical articles, e.g. "Canada's First Botanic Garden," William G. Dore, Vol. 6, No. 2 (1967), pp. 6-14; "The Saunders Collection," William G. Dore, Vol. 9, No. 1 (1970), pp. 11-20.

Royal Society of Canada Journal. Proceedings and Transactions.

Vol. 1 (1882) -Vol. 12 (1894); ser. 2, Vol. 1 (1895) - Vol. 12 (1906); ser. 3, Vol. 1 (1907) - Vol. 56 (1962); ser. 4 (1963-), Ottawa, Montreal. Section 4 (Natural Science) articles included floras, review of the progress of the study of botany, some biographical sketches of botanists, etc. From 1900 to 1943, a "Bibliography of Canadian Botany for year..." was

printed. In earlier years, detailed annual reports from affiliated societies were included - the Botanical Club of Canada one of the most important. By 1913, the botanical articles were very specialized, e.g. "On the Present State of Botany in Canada," George Lawson, Vol. 9 (1891); "Jacques-Philippe Cornuti - note pour servir à l'histoire des sciences au Canada," J.C.K. Laflamme, Vol. 8, 2nd ser. (1901).